
CITY COUNCIL MEETING NOTICE AND AGENDA 
Notice is hereby given that the City Council of Caribou will hold a Regular City Council Meeting 
on Monday, October 20, 2025, in the Council Chambers located at 25 High Street, 6:00 pm. 
THE MEETING WILL BE BROADCAST ON CABLE CHANNELS 8 & 1301 AND THE CITY’S YOUTUBE CHANNEL.  
 
1. Roll Call / Determine Quorum 
2. Call Meeting to Order 
3. Invocation / Inspirational Thought 
4. Pledge of Allegiance 
5. Declaration of any Conflict of Interest 
6. Public Forum (PUBLIC COMMENTS SUBMITTED TO THE CITY CLERK PRIOR TO 4:30PM ON THE MEETING DATE WILL 

BE SHARED WITH THE COUNCIL DURING PUBLIC FORUM. Email dbrissette@cariboumaine.org)  
7. Acceptance of Minutes          PAGES 

a. June 16, 2025, Regular City Council Meeting minutes      02-10 
b. June 30, 2025, Regular City Council Meeting minutes      11-15 
c. July 28, 2025, Regular City Council Meeting minutes      16-28 

8. Bid Openings, Awards, and Appointments 
a. Bid Opening – EPA Brownfields Clean-up Grant 2025 QEP       29-37 
b. Bid Opening – Parks Department front-line vehicle (truck)      38-51 
c. Recommendations for the Fall 2025 Façade Improvement Grant awards    52-60 
d. Appointments for Caribou Housing Authority Board of Directors     61-62 

9. Public Hearings and Possible Action Items 
a. Public Hearing – Ordinance 4, Amending Chapter 17 General Assistance    63-68 

10. Reports by Staff and Committees 
a. Financial Reports for September 2025 – Finance Director Carl Grant    69-89 
b. City Manager’s Report          90-98 

11. Unfinished Business 
a. Event coverage for Spud Speedway         99-100 

12. New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions 
a. Maine Department of Transportation, Planning Partnership Initiative    101-102 
b. Election motions for November 4, 2025, Referendum & Municipal Election    103 
c. Community Development Block Grant inquiry       104-105 

13. Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members      REPORTS 
14. Next Regular Meetings: November 17, 2025       106-118 
15. Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified under MRSA, Title 1, §405.6) 

a. Executive Session for Economic Development pursuant to 1 MRSA §405.6.C (Nylander Museum) 
b. Executive Session for Economic Development pursuant to 1 MRSA §405.6.C (Development Committee) 
c. Executive Session for Labor Negotiations pursuant to 1 MRSA §405.6.D (Fire Department Union) 
d. Executive Session for Labor Negotiations pursuant to 1 MRSA §405.6.D (Police Department Union) 

16. Adjournment 
If you are planning to attend this Public Meeting and due to a disability, need assistance in understanding or 
participating in the meeting, please notify the City Clerk ten or more hours in advance and we will, within reason, 
provide what assistance may be required. 
Certificate of Mailing/Posting 
The undersigned duly appointed City official for the municipality of Caribou City hereby certifies that a copy of the 
foregoing Notice and Agenda was posted at City Offices and on-line in accordance with City noticing procedures.      

 
BY: ____________________________________ Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 

1

mailto:dbrissette@cariboumaine.org


June 16, 2025 
25-10 Pg. 1 

Council Agenda Item #1: Roll Call 

The Caribou City Council held a regular City Council Meeting on Monday, June 16, 2025, in the 
Council Chambers with the following members present: Mayor Boma, Deputy Mayor Smith, 
Councilors Kelley, Theriault and Watson.  Councilor Bagley was present via Zoom, and 
Councilor Lovewell was absent from the meeting.   

Department Managers Carl Grant (Finance Director), Gary Marquis (Superintendent of Parks & 
Recreation), Peter Baldwin (Library Director), Corey Saucier (Police Chief), Eric Sanderson 
(Economic & Community Development Specialist) 

Penny Thompson, City Manager, was present for the meeting.  

The meeting was covered by Paula Brewer of the County and was broadcasted via Spectrum and 
YouTube.   

Council Agenda Item #2: Call Meeting to Order 

Mayor Boma called the meeting to order at 6:00PM 

Council Agenda Item #3: Invocation/Inspirational Thought 

Deputy Mayor Smith read the invocation.  

Council Agenda Item #4: Pledge of Allegiance 

Mayor Boma led the Pledge of Allegiance.  

Council Agenda Item #5: Declaration of any Conflict of Interest 

There were no declarations made.  

Council Agenda Item #6: Public Forum 

Michelle Smith, Caribou Resident 

“About 3 hours and 30 minutes into the May 27th Caribou City Council meeting, the subject of 
EMS Fees began. *Due to the length of the meeting and no official bio-break, multiple 
councilors got up and left while the Fire Chief was speaking. Several councilors got into side 
conversations throughout his time at the podium, this should be avoided since it comes across as 
either a lack of respect or a lack of relevance to the person speaking and bordering on sketchy to 
those who are watching. This is against Robert's Rules. 

The sarcastic remarks about the wages of the Fire Department came across as very disrespectful 
not only to the first responders themselves, but also to the community that supports them. 

While the Chief was letting the council know that they are understaffed by 3 people, and how 
many hours per week the remaining crews are working, the smirks and comments about 

2



June 16, 2025 
25-10 Pg. 2 

essentially forcing the first responders to volunteer for yet more time away from their families 
came across as if nothing that was stated about the current situation mattered. 

This all took place during a council meeting that included a charge that the budget be cut while 
preserving 'essential services' which caused a rather lengthy conversation on employee morale. 
Was this in reference to all employees? Or dependent upon which department they work for? 

In my opinion, something significant has changed when a council shows more respect and fight 
for those that sell drugs than for those who are the front lines of dealing with the ramifications of 
a drug epidemic. Who medically intervene in overdoses for those where it may or may not be 
successful. Who also provide life-saving measures to folks in various environments and transport 
them to medical centers both in Caribou and beyond, as well as put out fires under a variety of 
circumstances in Caribou and the surrounding communities, see things that you and I would not 
be able to sleep if we saw, sleep away from home for 3 or more nights a week, and miss out on a 
lot of their own family celebrations. 

They are here for this community regardless of the day, regardless of the time, to do what they 
can to preserve lives and property. I'm ashamed of the way things came across during the May 
27th meeting and I wanted to state publicly that the tone of the council in no way represents the 
majority of the public, and that the same level of respect should be given to the Fire Department 
as is given to all other departments in Caribou. 

Secondly, to clear up what 'essential services' are, which have nothing to do with the people that 
do them - if there were a 3-week or more power outage, possibly even due to one of those 
albatross solar fields tied in to the grid catching fire, what services would still be necessary to 
protect and assist the citizens of Caribou? And do those service personnel have what they need to 
do so? The answer to this question is the answer to what services are essential. I can assure you 
that the bookmobile will not be on the front lines. 

Consider the latest school budget vote as a call from the citizens to be more fiscally responsible. 
Between the continuous raising of State and City taxes to the 'market value' assessments (which 
are actually unrealized capital gains and I believe technically illegal under most, if not all 
circumstances), citizens cannot afford to continue dishing out more monies. If the trajectory 
continues, the council's desire to have a land grab, I mean land bank, will definitely come to 
pass, but the question remains on how that will be sustainable when no one able to afford to pay 
taxes. 

Hard times call for hard decisions and sometimes City Officials need to do what City Officials 
need to do in order to limit the burden placed on the people. 

*REFRAINING FROM DISTURBING THE ASSEMBLY. During debate, during remarks by the 
presiding officer to the assembly, and during voting, no member should be permitted to disturb 
the assembly by whispering, walking across the floor, or in any other way. The key words here 
are disturb the assembly. This rule does not mean, therefore, that members can never whisper, or 

3



June 16, 2025 
25-10 Pg. 3 

walk from one place to another in the hall during the deliberations of the assembly. At large 
meetings it would be impossible to enforce such a rule. However, the presiding officer should 
watch that such activity does not disturb the meeting or hamper the transaction of business. 
(Robert's Rules of Order, page 261)” 

Dave Corriveau, Caribou Resident 

“I’m Dave Corriveau and you appointed me to the Economic Development Committee.  In light 
of what transpired in this community regarding a “Budget” I urge you to fund no more than last 
year’s dollar amount.  I believe no jobs will be lost and Caribou will survive flat funded 
department budgets.  Following this course of action accomplishes two very critical components.  
The first allows existing commercial businesses some breathing room to weather out of control 
inflation and rising costs of doing business, and secondly it shows any prospective business 
looking at Caribou that we are fiscally responsible and live within our means.  We care deeply 
about taxing our property owners and all suffer a little bit more.”   

Safe Alternatives email received and read into meeting by Deputy Mayor Smith.   

“Caribou City Council,  

It has been brought to our attention by our patients and community that there has been 
miscommunication, the use of incorrect terminology, rumors and overall confusion regarding our 
city’s current ordinance within which Safe Alternatives complies on an annual basis. 
Unfortunately, none of our officers will be in northern Maine during this meeting, so we offer 
this letter in hopes of clarifying what Safe Alternatives works hard to maintain regarding both 
our state and city licensing, since our business has been mentioned during recent public 
discussions relating to the operating status of Richardson Remedies. 

On a State of Maine level, medical marijuana caregivers and dispensaries are not the same with 
respect to licensing. Both entities are in the Maine Medical use of Marijuana program rules but 
have different sections under the state’s rules and regulations.  Some differences between these 
entities are as follows; there is an annual registration fee for a dispensary, which may not be less 
than $5,000 or more than $12,000. There is an annual registration fee for caregivers based upon 
plant canopy, the fee may not be less than $50 or more than $1,500. Dispensaries must be 
audited annually by Office of Cannabis Policy (OCP) for renewal. Caregivers do not always 
have annual State audits for renewal.  OCP also outlines that dispensaries must have regulations 
for policies, procedures, and records including but not limited to personnel files, business 
records, daily inventory counted by two employees, all THC products being under double lock 
and key, harsh security measures, background checks for officers, and tax compliance which is 
all audited annually by OCP at renewal.  Caregivers do not experience these checks. 

Currently, the City of Caribou allows registered cultivation caregivers, which are caregivers that 
can only grow cannabis at that location, and  
It has been brought to our attention by our patients and community that there has been 
miscommunication, the use of incorrect terminology, rumors and overall confusion regarding our 

4



June 16, 2025 
25-10 Pg. 4 

city’s current ordinance within which Safe Alternatives complies on an annual basis. 
Unfortunately, none of our officers will be in northern Maine during this meeting, so we offer 
this letter in hopes of clarifying what Safe Alternatives works hard to maintain regarding both 
our state and city licensing, since our business has been mentioned during recent public 
discussions relating to the operating status of Richardson Remedies. 
On a State of Maine level, medical marijuana caregivers and dispensaries are not the same with 
respect to licensing. Both entities are in the Maine Medical use of Marijuana program rules but 
have different sections under the state’s rules and regulations.  Some differences between these 
entities are as follows; there is an annual registration fee for a dispensary, which may not be less 
than $5,000 or more than $12,000. There is an annual registration fee for caregivers based upon 
plant canopy, the fee may not be less than $50 or more than $1,500. Dispensaries must be 
audited annually by Office of Cannabis Policy (OCP) for renewal. Caregivers do not always 
have annual State audits for renewal.  OCP also outlines that dispensaries must have regulations 
for policies, procedures, and records including but not limited to personnel files, business 
records, daily inventory counted by two employees, all THC products being under double lock 
and key, harsh security measures, background checks for officers, and tax compliance which is 
all audited annually by OCP at renewal.  Caregivers do not experience these checks. 
Currently, the City of Caribou allows registered cultivation caregivers, which are caregivers that 
can only grow cannabis at that location, and non-profit dispensaries.  Safe Alternatives is the 
only non-profit, state-licensed dispensary located in Caribou.  This City application comes with 
an annual fee of $500, an annual inspection by City Code Enforcement, Fire Chief and Police 
Chief to ensure that the non-profit dispensary or registered cultivation caregiver is complying 
with city ordinance language.  
Last week, one of our officers requested a copy of Richardson Remedies’ annual city application 
from city officials for what has and is currently allowed at this time. The officer was informed 
that there is no application on file for any previous years for Richardson Remedies. 
Safe Alternatives does not benefit from having a dispensary license any longer, as we no longer 
have a growing operation or C1D1 lab outside of Caribou, but must still maintain the heavy 
burden of an expensive licensing process simply to remain compliant with our city’s ordinance.  
By not also carrying this burden, Richardson Remedies in its current retail operation has not 
only benefited competitively but has been and continues to operate with disregard to the city’s 
ordinance entirely. 
Safe Alternatives welcomes the presence of medical cannabis businesses in Caribou, but we all 
must participate equally and lawfully on both city and State levels.  Currently, this is not the 
case.  We encourage the board to fully understand the difference between the compliant 
operation of Safe Alternatives and the non-compliant operation of Richardson Remedies, and 
how Safe Alternatives does not benefit, despite the rhetoric from that business and its supporters, 
from allowing exceptions to be made for them to continue to operate as they are currently 
structured.  It is our position that any other medical marijuana businesses who want to operate 
with Caribou city limits may do so, as long as they are following the language in the ordinance 
put forth by the City Council. 

SAFE ALTERNATIVES IS UNDER MRS Title 13-B. MAINE NONPROFIT CORPORATION” 

Council Agenda Item # 7: Acceptance of Minutes 

There were no minutes to review for the meeting.  

Council Agenda Item #8: Bid Openings, Awards and Appointments 

Deputy Mayor Smith explained that the City of Caribou is fortunate to have many employees 
who have devoted much of their career to the citizens of Caribou. The Caribou City Council 
traditionally recognizes lengths of service in five-year increments on an annual basis. Tonight, 

5



June 16, 2025 
25-10 Pg. 5 

the City Council would like to thank the following individuals for their hard work and 
contributions over the years: 

 

Mayor Boma presented certificates to those who were able to attend and certificates will also be 
given to employees who were unable to attend the meeting.  

b.  Fire Station Engineering Firm bids 

Mayor Boma explained that the City of Caribou has received funding through the Aroostook 
County ARPA grant funding, through a Congressionally – Directed Spending request from 
Senator Collins’ office and from funding that was set aside by designating capital funds for a 
project to make needed renovations and upgrades to the Caribou Fire and Ambulance department 
building. The City Council Municipal Buildings Committee advertised through an RFQ process 
to obtain qualifications from firms interested in engineering the project. 

The Municipal Buildings Committee then selected two highly qualified firms to meet with to 
discuss the project in-depth. The City Council Municipal Buildings Committee is recommending 
that the Caribou City Council award the project to: Harriman at a cost of $150,000 for phases to 
from investigations and design to construction administration. 

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Councilor Watson to award the Caribou Fire 
Department Renovation and Upgrades project to Harriman at a cost of $150,000. 

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley– Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, P. Watson – Yes, J. Smith – 
Yes (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #9: Public Hearings and Possible Action Items 

There were no public hearing scheduled for the meeting.  

Council Agenda Item #10: Reports by Staff and Committees 

a.  May Financial Reports = Finance Director 

Carl Grant (Finance Director) reviewed the May Financial report for the City of Caribou.   

6



June 16, 2025 
25-10 Pg. 6 

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Smith, seconded by Councilor Watson to accept the financial 
report as presented.   

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley– Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, P. Watson – Yes, J. Smith – 
Yes (So voted) 

b.  Update on visit to Cary Medical Center OB Unit – Mayor Boma 

Mayor Boma explained that the Caribou City Council and City Manager were invited by Cary 
Medical Center CEO Kris Doody, staff and the Cary Board of Directors to tour the newly 
remodeled OB unit at Cary Medical Center. Many hospitals across the state have closed their 
Labor and Delivery units, however, the Cary obstetrics unit continues to provide area parents 
with labor, delivery, and post-partum services to expectant moms and dads in a soothing, 
professional environment.  

Mayor Boma explained that the new unit is beautiful and will be well utilized because of the 
increase in number of births here in Caribou due to other facilities closing their obstetrics units in 
the area.   

c.  City Manager’s Report 

Manager Thompson reviewed the City Manager’s Report dated June 16, 2025. 

Council Agenda Item #11: Unfinished Business 

a.  Cannabis medical caregiver discussion 

Mayor Boma explained that at last two City Council meeting, members of the Caribou City 
Council heard from citizens about changes in the medical cannabis laws that are having a 
negative effect on the business operations of registered caregivers operating under the state 
statute.  

There would be a lot that would need to be done to allow a caregiver retail store or registered 
dispensary to legally operate in Caribou and Councilor Kelley has prepared an ordinance to be 
introduced.  

This would be Ordinance 3, 2025 Series, Medical Cannabis Dispensary Ordinance. This has not 
been reviewed by municipal attorney Rick Solman. If the members of the Caribou City Council 
would like an opinion from MMA Legal Services, I would need an approved motion. 

Councilor Bagley explained that in the Charter that the Planning Board would be the first to 
work on the ordinance then it would go to the Council.   

Councilor Kelley stated that in section 212 it states that a Councilor can bring forth an ordinance.   

Deputy Mayor Smith stated that for the zoning it can still be looked at by the planning board and 
legal in the meantime.   

7



June 16, 2025 
25-10 Pg. 7 

Councilor Bagley suggested that the next step would be to send the ordinance to the Planning 
Board.   

 

Deputy Mayor Smith introduced Ordinance No. 3, 2025 Series, Medial Cannabis Dispensary.  

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Smith, seconded by Councilor Watson to direct City Manager 
Penny Thompson to seek the opinion of Maine Municipal Association Legal Services regarding 
the proposed Medical Cannabis Dispensary Ordinance. 

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley– Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, P. Watson – Yes, J. Smith – 
Yes (So voted) 

b.  2025 Municipal Budget 

Mayor Boma explained that at the March 10, 2025, meeting, the public hearing on the 2025 
Municipal Budget was held. There was a projected $1.2 million dollar shortfall between 
expenses and revenues. The City Council has directed staff to present a 10% savings (approx. 
$1,000,000) in savings to lessen the impact on taxpayers. At the March 17, 2025, City Council 
meeting, cuts to the budget were brought forward. These potential savings were less than 
$1,000,000 and were not accepted. 

At the May 27, 2025, City Council meeting, the subject of cuts was brought up again and several 
approaches were discussed, including looking at additional cuts or funding the unionized 
departments at 2024 levels and cutting other departments by 10%. 

Much of the savings presented come from open positions and deferring capital projects. 

It is the City Council who sets policy. Is the City Council looking to cut programs, services, and 
staff? If so, please provide that direction. 

Motion made by deputy Mayor Smith, seconded by Councilor Watson to reduce the expense 
budget by $723,697 by recommendations provided by the City Manager.   
$194,790.77 is from a reserve account G 1-456-00 “Tax Relief Funds 2021” 
The $46,039.20 was from various accounts including: 
$12,039.20 I think from Tax Acquired Property Remediation Reserve G 1-373-07 
$14,000 I think from Tax Acquired Property Remediation Reserve G 1-490-00 
$20,000 I think from Caribou Trailer Park Reserve G 1-406-00 

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley– Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, P. Watson – Yes, J. Smith – 
Yes (So voted) 

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Smith, seconded by Councilor Watson to move the ARPA NEU 
funds to offset the increase in police wages of, $67,488.64  

Council Agenda Item #12: New Business, Ordinance and Resulutions 

8



June 16, 2025 
25-10 Pg. 8 

a.  RSU #39 Budget Validation election results 

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Smith, seconded by Councilor Watson to set the start time as 
8:00 AM, to appoint Danielle Brissette as Election Warden, Kristina Drinkall and Amber Madore 
as Deputy Wardens for the July 8, 2025 RSU #39 Budget Validation Referendum Election.  

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley– Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, P. Watson – Yes, J. Smith – 
Yes (So voted) 

b.  Request to sign a Corrective Deed 

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Smith, seconded by Councilor Watson to sign the provided 
corrective deed for the property located on Map 16 Lot 51.  

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley– Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, P. Watson – Yes, J. Smith – 
Yes (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #13: Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members 

Mayor Boma stated that Thursdays on Sween Street was fabulous, and she commended Gary and 
the City Staff for all of the work they put into the events.   

Deputy Mayor Smith stated that at Thursdays on Sweeden Street it was very well attended and 
many of the vendors were able to sell out of food items.  

Councilor Kelley thanked everyone for their support.   

Councilor Watson stated that he was able to attend a Library meeting and that they are an 
incredible group.   

Council Agenda Item #14: Next Regular Meeting 

June 30, 2025 

Council Agenda Item #15: Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified 
under MRSA, Title 1, §405.6) 

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Smith, seconded by Councilor Watson to enter into executive 
session at 7:09PM for personnel matters pursuant to 1 MRSA §405.6.A(1) Non-Union Employee 
survey results.  

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley– Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, P. Watson – Yes, J. Smith – 
Yes (So voted) 

Council exited executive session at 8:03PM  

Motion made by Councilor Watson, seconded by Councilor Theriault to accept the wage scale 
proposed to be put in place for non-union employees.  

9



June 16, 2025 
25-10 Pg. 9 

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley– Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, P. Watson – Yes, J. Smith – 
Yes (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #16: Adjournment 

Motion made by Councilor Watson, seconded by Councilor Theriault to adjourn the meeting at 
8:06PM. 

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley– Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, P. Watson – Yes, J. Smith – 
Yes (So voted) 

 

Danielle Brissette, Secretary 

10



June 30, 2025 
25-11 Pg. 1 

Council Agenda Item #1: Roll Call 

The Caribou City Council held a regular City Council Meeting on Monday, June 30, 2025 in the 
Council Chambers with the following members present: Mayor Boma, Deputy Mayor Smith, 
Councilors Lovewell, Theriault, and Watson.  Councilors Bagley and Kelley were present via 
zoom.   

Department Managers Gary Marquis (Superintendent of Parks & Recreation), and Peter Baldwin 
(Library Director) were present for the meeting.  

Penny Thompson, City Manager, was present at the meeting.   

The meeting was covered by Paula Brewer of The County covered the meeting and it was 
broadcast via Spectrum and YouTube.  

Council Agenda Item #2: Call Meeting to Order 

Mayor Boma called the meeting to order at 6:00PM 

Council Agenda Item #3: Invocation / Inspirational Thought 

Deputy Mayor Smith read the invocation.  

Council Agenda Item #4: Pledge of Allegiance 

Mayor Boma led the Pledge of Allegiance.  

Council Agenda Item #5: Declaration of any Conflict of Interest 

There were no declarations made.  

Council Agenda Item #6: Public Forum 

There were no comments made by the public.  

Council Agenda Item #7: Acceptance of Minutes 

There were no minutes submitted for review.  

Council Agenda Item #8: Bid Openings, Awards, and Appointments 

a.  Recognition of Caribou FFA State Winners 

Deputy Mayor Smith stated that the Caribou Tech Center provides many opportunities for 
students to learn a trade and develop their critical workforce skills. Amy White, the Caribou Tech 
Center Director, has advanced these important fields of study by partnering with local employers, 
pursuing innovative programs and applying for critical grant funding. Ms. White also seeks out 
and retains highly skilled staff for the programs offered.  

11



June 30, 2025 
25-11 Pg. 2 

One example is the CTC agriculture instructor and FFA Chapter Advisor Scott Moir. Mr. Moir 
was named a 2025 Aroostook Achiever for his work in the community and his involvement with 
the Caribou Tech Center and FFA. 

The Caribou City Council acknowledges that agriculture has been important in the founding, 
building and sustaining of our community. The FFA makes a positive difference in the lives of 
students by developing their potential for premier leadership, personal growth and career success 
through agricultural education. Additionally, the FFA instills the value of citizenship and 
patriotism in our next generation of civic leaders. 

Tonight, the Caribou City Council honors the Caribou FFA, and the students who were state-
level 2025 Career Development Event winners. In addition to these first-place awards, the 
Caribou team placed second overall in “Agricultural Sales”, “Agricultural Technology & 
Mechanical Systems”, “Veterinary Science” and “Forestry” and third place overall in 
“Environmental & Natural Resources”, “Livestock Evaluation” and “Horse Evaluation”. 

Mayor Boma presented the members of the FFA and advisors with certificates from the Caribou 
City Council.  

The First Team for “Farm Business Management”: Kayden Guerrette, Megan Martin, George 
Solomon and Kaleb Poitras. With Caribou members sweeping all three individual placements. 
The First Team for “Dairy Cattle Evaluation”: Lexi Botting, Trista Walker, Ian Russell and 
Eleanor Rothlauf. The First Place Team for “Nursery and Landscaping”: Joslyn Griffeth, George 
Solomon, Eleanor Rothlauf, Simon Disy. With Caribou taking individual first and second place. 
The First Place Team for “Floriculture”: Joslyn Griffeth, Lexi Botting, Trista Walker and Eleanor 
Rothlauf. With Caribou members sweeping all three individual placements. First Place 
Individual for Safe Tractor Driving: Jaden Corey. 

The City Council would also like to recognize Instructor Scott Moir and Caribou Tech Center 
Director Amy White for their contributions to the success of these students. 

b.  Appointment to the Nylander Museum Board of Trustees 

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Smith, seconded by Councilor Theriault to appoint Lori Knight 
Phair for the remainder of the term expiring on December 31, 2025. 

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, J. Smith – 
Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

c.  Ballot Clerk Appointments 

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Councilor Watson to appoint Steven Stubbs 
and Hannah Holmes as ballot clerks for the City of Caribou with a term ending on April 30, 
2026. 

12



June 30, 2025 
25-11 Pg. 3 

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, J. Smith – 
Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #9: Public Hearings and Possible Action Items 

There are no items scheduled for discussion.  

Council Agenda Item #10: Reports by Staff and Committees 

A.  City Manager’s Report 

Manager Thompson reviewed the City Manager’s Report dated June 30, 2025. 

Council Agenda Item #11: Unfinished Business 

There was no unfinished business scheduled to be discussed at the meeting.  

Council Agenda Item #12: New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions 

a.  Chamber of Commerce Annual Dinner 

Gary Marquis (Superintendent of Parks & Recreation) explained that the Central Aroostook 
Chamber of Commerce would like to host their Annual awards banquet at the Caribou Wellness 
Center in March of 2026.   

Mr. Marquis stated that he is bringing it to the Council because they would like to have adult 
beverages at the banquet using a licensed catering company.  The event is by invite only and he 
intends on being there the entire time.  The doors will be closed and monitored once everyone is 
in the building.  Tonight, he is requesting Council permission to allow the Central Aroostook 
Chamber of Commerce to have their event at the Wellness Center.  

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Smith, seconded by Councilor Watson to allow the Central 
Aroostook Chamber of Commerce to hold their annual dinner and to allow them to sell adult 
beverages.   

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, J. Smith – 
Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

b.  Countersign the RSU #39 Budget Validation Election Warrant 

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Smith, seconded by Councilor Watson to countersign the 
warrant for the July 8, 2025 RSU #39 Budget Validation Election.  

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, J. Smith – 
Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #13: Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members 

13



June 30, 2025 
25-11 Pg. 4 

Councilor Bagley stated that the Airport Committee has met, and they have been discussing 
different options that are available, including the possibility of having a mechanic at the airport.   

Councilor Bagley explained that at the Caribou Development Committee they have been 
discussing options to add housing around the city, and talked about land surrounding Cary 
Medical Center, as well as other areas around the City and options to develop it.   

Deputy Mayor Smith explained that he would like to see the City move to work on changing to a 
fiscal year to be in line with the State, County and RSU.   

Councilor Theriault stated that it is great to see all the young people coming in and all of their 
accomplishments.   

Mayor Boma commented on how beautiful the downtown area is with the flowers.   

Council Agenda Item #14: Next Regular Meetings: July 28, 2025 

Council Agenda Item #15: Executive Session(s) May be called to discuss matters identified 
under MRSA, Title 1, §405.6) 

a.  Executive Session for personnel pursuant to 1 MRSA §405.6.A(1) (City Manager Review) 

Motion made by Councilor Lovewell, seconded by Councilor Theriault to enter into executive 
session at 6:47PM to discuss personnel matters pursuant to 1 MRSA §405.6.A(1).   

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, J. Smith – 
Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

Council exited executive session at 7:28PM 

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Smith, seconded by Councilor Watson to Smith to continue the 
employment of City Manager Penny Thompson, sign her evaluation to be placed in her 
personnel folder, and increase her salary to the third year step on the pay scale approved at the 
June 16, 2025 City Council meeting, retroactive to her anniversary date in October 2024 when 
the evaluation should have been completed. 

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, J. Smith – 
Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

b.  Executive Session for union negotiations pursuant to 1 MRSA §405.6.D (Fire Department 
Union) 

Motion to enter Executive Session by Deputy Mayor Smith and Seconded by Councilor Watson 
at 7:31 pm for union negotiations pursuant to 1 MRSA §405.6.D for Fire Department Union 
discussion. 

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, J. Smith – 
Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

14



June 30, 2025 
25-11 Pg. 5 

Council exited executive session at 7:58PM 

Motion by Deputy Mayor Jody Smith, seconded by Councilor Watson to “present the IAFF 
Union 5191 with a last and final offer as presented by legal counsel to the negotiating team on 
June 18”.  

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, J. Smith – 
Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

c. Executive Session for economic development pursuant to 1 MRSA §405.6.C (Economic 
Development) 

Motion made by Councilor Lovewell, seconded by Councilor Watson at 8:01PM for economic 
development pursuant to 1 MRSA §405.6.C for a discussion of economic development activity at 
the Caribou Municipal Airport.  

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, J. Smith – 
Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

Council exited executive session at 8:08PM 

Motion by Councilor Watson, seconded by Councilor Theriault to “to proceed with the 
recommendation of the Airport Advisory Committee’s to offer space in the aircraft terminal to a 
qualified mechanic to use for the purpose of aircraft service, including maintenance and repair.”  

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, J. Smith – 
Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #16: Adjournment 

Motion made by Councilor Watson, seconded by Councilor Lovewell to adjourn the meeting at 
8:09PM. 

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, J. Smith – 
Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

 

Danielle Brissette, Secretary 

15



July 28, 2025 
25-13 Pg. 1 

Council Agenda Item #1: Roll Call 

The Caribou City Council held a regular City Council meeting on Monday, July 28, 2025, in the 
Council Chambers with the following members present; Mayor Boma, Deputy Mayor Smith, 
Councilors Kelley, Lovewell, Theriault, and Watson.  Councilor Bagley was present via Zoom.   

Manager Thompson was present for the meeting.  

Department managers Gary Marquis (Superintendent of Parks and Recreation), Carl Grant 
(Finance Director) and Corey Saucier (Police Chief) were present for the meeting.   

The meeting was covered by Cameron Levasseur of The County and it was broadcasted via 
Spectrum and YouTube.  

Council Agenda Item #2: Call Meeting to Order 

Mayor Boma opened the City Council Meeting at 6:00 PM. 

Council Agenda Item #3: Invocation / Inspirational Thought 

Deputy Mayor Smith read the invocation.  

Council Agenda Item #4:  Pledge of Allegiance 

Mayor Boma led the Pledge of Allegiance.  

Council Agenda Item #5: Declaration of any Conflict of Interest 

There were no declarations made.  

Council Agenda Item #6: Public Forum 

Rona Hart, Caribou Resident 

Ms. Hart came in to speak about her experiences with Richardson Remedies and the help that she 
has been able to receive.  She explained that with the help of the medical cannabis she does not 
have to use narcotics.   

Robert Daffin, Caribou Resident 

Mr. Daffin came in support of Richardson Remedies, he explained that he is a patient and uses 
medical marijuana for pain.  He explained the medications that he was previously prescribed by 
physicians and the bad side effects that the medications had.  He explained that Mr. Richardson 
is a supporter of many events in the area and that he is not a nuisance.   

Council Agenda Item #7: Minutes 

There were no minutes submitted for review.  

Council Agenda Item #8: Bid Openings, Awards, and Appointments  

16



July 28, 2025 
25-13 Pg. 2 

aa.  Awards for Caribou Cares about Kids Parade 

Deputy Mayor Smith read the names of the winners from the Caribou Cares about Kids parade 
and Mayor Boma presented them with trophies.   

Best Non-profit Community: VFW Auxiliary 

Best Theme: Caribou Snowmobile Club 

Best Business: Guerrette Farms  

Overall: RSU #39 Basketball 

a.  Bid Opening – QEP for Brownfields RLF project 

Mayor Boma explained that the City of Caribou has received funding through the Maine 
Department of Economic and Community Development (DECD) Brownfields Revolving Loan 
Fund to clean up contaminated soils at the former Birdseye site. City staff worked with the 
DECD and Maine Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) to create and advertise an 
Request of Qualifications (RFQ) to obtain qualifications from firms interested in the project.   

There was a mandatory site visit conducted. Three firms attended. City staff received one 
qualified proposal and is recommending that the Caribou City Council award the project to: 

County Environmental Engineering, Inc. at a cost of $9,995 for task 1 (Execute Community 
Involvement Plan) and Task 2 (Oversee Site-Specific Clean-up Activities). 

The cost of this project is funded through a grant / loan from the DECD Brownfields RLF 
program, which has already been approved by the Caribou City Council 

Motion made by Councilor Lovewell, seconded by Councilor Watson to award the award the 
Brownfields Revolving Loan Fund project for the removal of contaminated soils to County 
Environmental Engineering at a cost of $9,995.00.  

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, J. Smith – 
Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

Councilor Bagley asked for clarification.  

Manager Thompson explained that DEP wanted an extension and that the bid for work would be 
done this fall.   

b.  Bid Opening – Demolition of 49 Herschel Street 

Mayor Boma explained that the Caribou City Council has prioritized the removal of blight from 
our community. The structure at 49 Herschel Street has been vacant for many years and has 
significant roof damage, resulting in a blighted building in the middle of the Caribou downtown.  

17



July 28, 2025 
25-13 Pg. 3 

The City Council has authorized the City Manager to seek bids for the demolition of this 
building, now owned by the City of Caribou. The first round produced no bids. It was put out a 
second time with more advertising and promotion, and three bids were received. Here are the 
results in the order that the envelopes were unsealed. All were opened at the same time, 
following the deadline for acceptance: 

 

Kevin Thibodeau DBA Thibodeau Trucking & Excavation is the apparent low bidder at $34,950. 

Councilor Lovewell explained that she is concerned about the low cost from Thibodeau’s in 
comparison to the other bids.    

Manager Thompson explained that there was a pre bid meeting that was required before bidding 
on the project.  

Deputy Mayor Smith explained that the City was covering the tipping cost for the landfill.   

Manager Thompson explained that they would use the free tonnage that they have for the debris 
from the demolition of the property.  

Councilor Theriault stated that she is concerned regarding what the bid reads, but that 
Thibodeau’s have done work for the city in the past and did great work,  

Councilor Bagley mentioned that none of the bids shows the removal of hazardous materials 

Manager Thompson explained that County Abatement will be doing an assessment and removal 
of the hazardous materials before the demolition of the property.  

Motion made by Councilor Watson, seconded by Councilor Lovewell to table awarding the 
contract until the hazardous materials assessment is done.   

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, J. Smith – 
No, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

c.  Appointments to the Caribou Development Committee 

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Smith, seconded by Councilor Watson to appoint Matthew 
Bouchyard to the Caribou Development Committee for the remainder of the term expiring 
December 31, 2025. 

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, J. Smith – 
Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #9:  Public Hearings and Possible Action Items 

18



July 28, 2025 
25-13 Pg. 4 

a.  Public Hearing on Ordinance 1, 2025 Series, Anti-Blight Ordinance 

Mayor Boma explained that Ordinance 1, 2025 Series, Anti-Blight Ordinance, was introduced at 
the May 27, 2025 City Council meeting. 

Tonight is the public hearing. 

Open Public Hearing: 6:37 PM  

Manager Thompson explained that the public input given to staff on this agenda item has been: 

Concern that the new ordinance requires that, in Section 4 – 407 that complaints must be in 
writing. The members of the public who commented about this were concerned about retaliation 
from neighbors if the name and address of the complainant was disclosed (example: if it was a 
written document, it would be subject to a FOAA request.) 

Councilor Bagley suggested that the ordinance go back to the planning board to be looked at 
again regarding a name be required on the complaint submission.   

David Corriveau, Caribou Resident and Planning Board Member 

Mr. Corriveau explained that the Planning Board never included that the person filing the 
complaint would have to include their name and information when filing a complaint, and that 
the matter does not need to go back to the planning board for that.   

Closed Public Hearing: 6:42PM 

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Smith, seconded by Councilor Watson to approve Ordinance 1, 
2025 Series, Anti-Blight Ordinance with section 4-408 stricken from the ordinance.  

Councilor Lovewell stated that the more tools we have in our pocket the better.   

Councilor Bagley explained that there are some inconsistencies that could be addressed on a 
case-by-case basis.  

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, J. Smith – 
Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

b.  Public Hearing on Ordinance 2, 2025 Series, Anti-Nuisance Ordinance 

Mayor Boma explained that Ordinance 2, 2025 Series, Anti-Nuisance Ordinance, was introduced 
at the May 27, 2025 City Council meeting, and tonight is the public hearing.  

Opened Public Hearing: 6:44PM 

Manager Thompson explained that the public input given to staff on this agenda item has been: 

Concern that the new ordinance requires that, in Section 5-604(a) complaints must be in writing. 
The members of the public who commented about this were concerned about retaliation from 

19



July 28, 2025 
25-13 Pg. 5 

neighbors if the name and address of the complainant was disclosed (example: if it was a written 
document, it would be subject to a FOAA request.) 

Councilor Bagley asked why there is a limitation regarding living within 500 feet.  

Council discussed striking the limitation of distance and written as part of the ordinance.  

Closed Public Hearing: 6:48 PM 

Motion made by Councilor Watson, seconded by Deputy Mayor Smith to approve Ordinance 2, 
2025 Series, Anti-Nuisance Ordinance with the changes discussed omitting the words written 
and living within 500feet thereof.   

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, J. Smith – 
Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

c.  Public Hearing on Ordinance 3, 2025 Series, Medical Cannabis Dispensary Ordinance 

Mayor Boma explained that ordinance 3, 2025 Series, Medical Cannabis Dispensary Ordinance, 
was introduced at the June 16, 2025 City Council meeting and tonight we are having the public 
hearing.  

Opened Public Hearing: 6:49PM 

Carol Harper, Caribou Resident 

Ms. Harper explained that she is 81 years old and uses no narcotics or other medications to 
alleviate pain.  She stated that she uses edible cannabis and that it doesn’t hurt her body.  She 
believes that having the dispensary in Caribou keeps people in Caribou shopping and spending 
money here.  

David Corriveau, Caribou Resident & Planning Board member 

Mr. Corriveau explained that he believes that the medical side is helpful to lots of people and that 
the planning board has offered solutions to help with the ordinance, and he believes that the city 
is opening pandoras box.  He stated that legal gave sound advice.   

Manager Thompson explained in the packet there is a letter from the planning board chair, as 
well as the City attorney along with suggested ordinances from the attorney.   

Amanda Jandreau, chair of the Planning Board was present via Zoom, but there was a bad 
connection and City Manager Thompson read the letter that she provided.  In the packet there is 
also section 39 of the licensing ordinance that will be repealed and replaced. 

20



July 28, 2025 
25-13 Pg. 6 

   

Councilor Watson asked Alicia Ellis from the Office of Cannabis Policy to summarize her take 
on the situation at hand and why R-3 was excluded.   

Ms. Ellis explained that the zoning was in part of the City and Planning Board.  

21



July 28, 2025 
25-13 Pg. 7 

Councilor Watson asked what current permissions Mr. Richardson has right now at his facility in 
Caribou.  

Ms. Ellis explained that he has a caregiver license which is a license for an individual in the 
medical program and under that program they can have various authorities.   

Mr. Richardson has the authority to cultivate, manufacture, to wholesale purchase and to 
wholesale sell his products to other caregivers or dispensaries.  

Councilor Watson clarified that he can also take care of individual patients.   

Ms. Ellis explained that he can transfer to patients at his location but cannot operate a retail store.   

Mr. Richardson explained that he did have a retail store at the location until the law was changed 
last year.  

Councilor Watson clarified that the clients are still being cared for, just not in a retail store 
setting.  

Mr. Richardson explained that since the law change clients can no longer go into the store to 
choose their product, and that they now have to get it delivered and will not be able to view the 
products before purchasing.   

Councilor Watson asked Mr. Richardson if he had applied for his dispensary license. 

Mr. Richardson explained that he has applied but cannot go forward without the City’s 
permission.  

Mr. Corriveau (David Corriveau) asked if Mr. Richardson were to change the location, for 
example converting a one car garage and incorporating it and moving his retail section, would 
that comply with Caribou’s ordinance and the rules and regulations?   

Ms. Ellis explained that at this time, it would not be because Caribou has not opted for either 
Caregiver retail stores or for dispensary retail. Caribou would first have to pass an ordinance for 
them to be allowed to proceed as a dispensary.   

Mr. Corriveau explained that he is worried that all of the competitors that are in neighboring 
towns would want to also open shops in Caribou.   

Mayor Boma explained that they would limit the number of dispensaries to two to help the 
businesses that are in business stay in business.  

Councilor Watson explained that the intent is to change the ordinance to allow medical 
dispensaries in the community to operate for profit, and that the City reserves the right to limit 
the number of dispensaries in the community to two, with the option later to revisit and adjust the 
number of dispensaries in the ordinance as needed.  The ordinance would include the R-3 zone, 
but keep the rules regarding schools, daycares and churches etc. Mr. Watson stated that he has no 

22



July 28, 2025 
25-13 Pg. 8 

problem sending it to the planning board to hammer out, and that Mr. Richardson is still able to 
assist his customers until the new ordinance is put into place.   

Councilor Kelley explained that the updated ordinance takes into consideration what the 
attorney, planning board, and it has been updated.  The new ordinance was updated and sent out 
today, giving over 10 hours to review.   

Deputy Smith explained that the City Council is very limited on what they can do to help 
businesses and that he understands that there are rules to follow.  He explained that it is a delicate 
situation, with different opinions on both sides.   

Mr. Corriveau asked Councilor Kelley if we would be opting in or out.    

Councilor Kelley stated that at the moment we are just talking about the ordinance.   

Mr. Corriveau explained that from the Planning Board point of view they need to be very careful 
with how it is worded.   

Mayor Boma stated that she looks at recreational and medical dispensaries differently, and that 
further the City can limit only having two dispensaries.  She stated that it would be unfortunate it 
we didn’t help local businesses to stay in business in our community.   

Councilor Theriault stated that people are still able to get what they need and that it is still 
available to the clients, and that she believes that it should go to the voters, they should be the 
ones who decide what happens with this town.  

Robert Daffin, Caribou Resident 

Mr. Daffin explained that it is just like going to the grocery store, he likes to see what is available 
and to be able to pick it out for himself.  He explained that there are different types that have 
different effects, and that going to the shop gives him the opportunity to pick what he is in need 
of and choose it for himself.  He continued to explain that as a business Richardsons has 
supported different events in the community,  

Manager Thompson asked the Office of Cannabis policy that if the Council passes Ordinance 3, 
would they be opting in for medical dispensaries.   

Ms. Ellis explained that the City is already opted in, at the time it is limited to nonprofit 
dispensaries.  She explained that other municipalities have removed the word nonprofit from 
their ordinance and supply the planning board with a deadline to create any amendments to 
zoning and other items that they wish to have changed.   

Manager Thompson explained that she had emailed the attorney the ordinance and asked if the 
city should take a stab at it and he stated that it would take him some time, but that he would get 
to it.   

23



July 28, 2025 
25-13 Pg. 9 

Councilor Wason explained that it’s the board’s responsibility and that they could limit it to two 
dispensaries.   

Councilor Theriault explained that she believes that the Council should wait for the attorney to 
be able to revise the ordinance. 

Councilor Bagley stated that he believes that it is inaccurate and that it is not acceptable because 
it leaves out a lot of the regulations that currently exist for dispensaries, and what should be done 
is go through the current ordinance and change the language to conform with the changes in state 
law.  He explained that Richardson Remedies is a registered caregiver and that they were never 
licensed to be a retail store or any type of storefront.  They can continue to operate as a caregiver, 
and that the City is not impending their business in any way, and that we just need to modernize 
our ordinance to be consistent with state law.   

Mayor Boma explained that with the way that the law changed the City would need to change 
the ordinance.  

Councilor Kelley explained that once the ordinance is changed and the council agrees on it, then 
they would vote on it.  She explained that once the Council accepts the new ordinance Mr. 
Richardson will be allowed to submit his state application to update his license to be a 
dispensary.  

Councilor Bagley explained that the big change would be allowing a dispensary into an R3.   

Mayor Boma stated that he was able to operate there as a caregiver in the same zone, so she does 
not see what changes.  

Councilor Bagley explained that the City had no authority preciously over the operations because 
it was done at the State level.  The City did not even have a record or know who the caregivers 
are, and the city did not allow him to operate as he had been operating.   

Mr. Richardson explained with the new law, people can no longer go into the store to look at the 
products being offered.  What they are trying to do is become a dispensary so that they can 
conduct business as they did before.   

Councilor Kelley explained that this now gives the City more authority than what they had 
before.   

Councilor Lovewell explained that as a councilor she never intended to take anything away from 
the planning board and she likes to get the input from the board as she is working through the 
process.  She stated that she supports businesses and what they are doing in the community but 
wants to make sure that they go about them the correct way.   

Ms. Coen explained that the legislature put a new law into effect in August of 2024 that 
redefined what it meant to be a caregiver retail store, and that rendered many things as patient 
offices now fit the definition of a retail store.  Under his current registration he is somewhat 

24



July 28, 2025 
25-13 Pg. 10 

limited, and he just can’t be open to the public, he has to operate by appointment only.  People 
cannot come in and shop, he can sell what he grows and what is produced from what he grows.  
He is also limited to only one location, and he is interested in converting it to a dispensary 
license.  She explained that she had seen all the different versions of the ordinance, and that she 
had read the letter from attorney Solman and that it was her guide on the last version of the 
ordinance.  She stated that she went point by point of his letter, updated all the citations to track 
current state laws and the framework that’s put in place for medical even though its somewhat 
outdated, she stated that she addressed all the issues that were raised in the current version.  This 
came from the legislature, Ms. Ellis, and Mr. Mallick who is also on the line.   

Councilor Lovewell asked if the ordinance would cause issues for the planning board.  She stated 
that she has spoken to community members, and they do not want to see retail.  She just wants to 
be assured that they can be sure that it is not open for interpretation in the future.   

Councilor Kelley explained that all they are doing is updating and limiting to two dispensaries.   

Councilor Lovewell stated that they just want to make sure that all sides are looked at and keep 
the end goal safe as well as allowing businesses to continue to operate.   

Councilor Theriault stated what happens when it is limited to two, but there are five different 
people who want it.  It needs to be fair with everybody.   

Deputy Mayor Smith explained that there can always be future revisions of the ordinance.   

Councilor Theriault expressed concern on how to choose what dispensaries to choose if there is a 
limit to only two.  She stated that she is concerned that pandoras box is being opened and that it 
will only lead to more in the future.  

Councilor Bagley explained that they don’t know what the state legislature is going to do in the 
future.  He is concerned that the laws can be changed to not allow the home rule restricting the 
number of dispensaries, and they could also take the option of not having the option to have 
home rule restricting adult use store allowances.   

Mayor Boma explained that the Council may want to take time to digest the new ordinance and 
read through and discuss it again at the next meeting.  

Councilor Bagley explained that as a business, he can continue to operate under the license that 
he has.   

Mr. Daffin stated that he hopes the council would vote out of compassion for people like him, if 
it was another business you would not be worried.  There is a limit for a reason, not to fill to 
corridors.  

Rona Hart, Caribou Resident 

25



July 28, 2025 
25-13 Pg. 11 

Ms. Hart spoke in favor of Richardson Remedies explaining how some of the products help with 
calming and anxiety, She explained how they also carry medication for pets that is beneficial to 
them to help with their anxiety. Ms. Hart stated that at Richardsons they take the time to listen to 
people and show compassion to help out.   

Councilor Kelley explained that if you look at the ordinance if an existing business, there is only 
one allowed.   

Mayor Boma explained that it states in the ordinance that policy license operating as of the date 
of enactment of this ordinance is grandfathered as a non-conforming use if it is not located in the 
R3 zone.  

Ms. Ellis explained that worse case scenario for the business in the RC2 district would be if the 
business burns down and he wants to replace it and takes him a year to do that, per the ordinance, 
if it sits for over a year and they are non-compliant, they cannot reopen the business in the same 
location.  This is an example of why it should have started with the planning board because of 
land use issues that could arise.  

Manager Thompson explained that the other comment from the Office of Cannabis policy would 
as a dispensary they have an unlimited cultivation canopy and that may be something that the 
City may also want to consider placing limits on.   

Councilor Watson explained that the canopy statement explains that a dispensary can grow what 
they are selling, and just those strains.   

Councilor Kelley explained that with the ordinance stating twelve months it could remove that 
language.  

Manager Thompson explained that the other thing is that the operation change before the 
ordinance was by having an office.  The office was run kind of like a store, and it was the change 
of the definitions of a caregiver retail office became a caregiver retail store.  

Mayor Boma explained that under section 2 of the ordinance it mentions that if a dispensary 
ceases operations for a period of 12 months for any reason, the city will revoke the license issued 
to the registered dispensary and the registered dispensary will no longer be able to operate.   

Council had a discussion about removing that language regarding the ceasing of operations for a 
12 month period to guarantee Safe Alternatives to be able to operate.   

Deputy Mayor Smith explained that the ordinance can be updated at any time, and that if it 
passes it can be updated later as a minor revision or make changes at a later time if needed.   

Councilor Lovewell explained that we want to help to keep a business that has been in place for 
several years, and this ordinance covers several of the concerns that had come up in the 
discussions.   

26



July 28, 2025 
25-13 Pg. 12 

Closed Public Hearing: 7:50PM 

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Smith, seconded by Councilor Kelley to accept ordinance 
number three, the revised option as proposed.  

Councilor Bagley stated that at the end of the day, the Planning Board is opposed to the changes, 
and the City attorney has come out and recommended that we do not go forward.  He has not yet 
had a chance to review the latest changes that were made today, and so he believes that it should 
be referred to the planning board.  

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – No, J. Kelley – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. Theriault – No, J. Smith – 
Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #10: Reports by Staff and Committees 

a.  Financial Reports for June 2025- Finance Director Carl Grant 

Carl Grant (Finance Director) reviewed the June 2025 Financial report.  

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Smith, seconded by Councilor Watson to accept the June 
Financial report as presented.  

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, J. Smith – 
Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

b.  City Manager’s Report 

Manager Thompson reviewed the City Manager's report dated July 28, 2025. 

Council Agenda Item #11: Unfinished Business 

There was no unfinished business to discuss at the meeting.  

Council Agenda Item #12: New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions 

There was no new business to discuss at the meeting.  

Council Agenda Item #13: Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members 

Councilor Theriault stated that the newsletters that are being sent out are very nice. 

Deputy Mayor Smith stated that he attended an AWS meeting, and it was business as usual.  He 
also stated that the parade was great and well organized, and that there are lots of great things 
going on in the community.  

Councilor Lovewell explained that Caribou Cares about Kids was great and had an amazing 
fireworks display.   

Councilor Bagley thanked for the accommodations for remote participation.   

27



July 28, 2025 
25-13 Pg. 13 

Manager Thompson explained that Gary and his team at the rec work on making Caribou Cares 
about Kids a memorable experience.   

Councilor Watson commented that he has worked with a parade circuit and it is a lot of work to 
put everything together.   

Mayor Boma reminded that nomination papers are now available for the November 2025 
Municipal election became available today. There are seats available for the City Council, RSU 
#39 Board and Jefferson Memorial Hospital Fund Board.  

Council Agenda Item#14: Next Regular Meeting: August 25, 2025 

Council Agenda Item #15: Executive Session(s) 

Council did not enter executive session.  

Council Agenda Item #16: Adjournment  

Motion made by Councilor Watson, seconded by Councilor Kelley to adjourn the meeting at 
8:24PM 

 

Danielle Brissette, secretary 

 

 

28



Caribou City Council – October 20, 2025 Memo Re: Steam Plant Brownfield Cleanup QEP Proposals    Page 1 of 1 

CARIBOU ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
25 HIGH STREET 
CARIBOU, ME 04736 

         

MEMO 
TO: Caribou City Council Members 
FROM: Eric Sanderson, Economic & Community Development Specialist 
DATE: October 20, 2025 
RE: Brownfields Cleanup Funding – Steam Plant Qualified Environmental Professional Proposals 

Introduction 
The City of Caribou was awarded funding from the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) as part of 
its Brownfields Cleanup program to remediate the former Caribou Steam Power Plant located at 142 Lower 
Lyndon Street. As part of that cleanup, the City put out a Request for Qualifications (RFQ) & Fee Proposal 
for a Qualified Environmental Professional (QEP) to manage cleanup oversight and technical assistance on 
all aspects of the project. A copy of the RFQ is on the following pages. 

In response to the RFQ, one bid was received from: 

Sevee & Maher Engineers Cumberland, Maine 

A review panel of City Council members, a Planning Board member, and members of staff convened on 
Thursday, October 9th to review the proposal and make a recommendation to the City Council. The panel 
was impressed with the submittal and experience of Sevee & Maher Engineers, and enthusiastically endorses 
their proposal for formal acceptance by the City Council. The fee proposal in the budget presented was: 

Total budget: $95,000 

Staff is happy to provide additional clarifications and answer questions if the City Council has any. 

Suggested Action: 

After discussion, please make a motion “to accept the proposal from Sevee & Maher Engineers for Qualified 
Environmental Professional Services and cleanup oversight of the Steam Plant project in the amount of 
$95,000”. 

Second 

Discussion 

Vote 

Attachments: 
Attachment 1 – Copy of RFQ 
Attachment 2 – Sevee & Maher Engineers Proposal 
Attachment 3 – Review panel scoring 

29



1 

Introduction 

The City of Caribou, Maine, as a general-purpose unit of local government, was selected to receive
FY25 EPA Brownfields Cleanup funding for the remediation of the former Caribou Steam Power 
Plant.  

The City of Caribou is seeking the expertise of a Qualified Environmental Professional (QEP) to 
provide specific professional services to provide cleanup oversight and technical assistance for all 
aspects of this project over the period of performance of the grant through September 30, 2029. 

Site Eligibility and Property Ownership Eligibility: 
The City of Caribou owns the site. 

Operational History and Current Uses: 
The brownfield priority site targeted by this project is an abandoned steam power plant in the 
floodplain of the Aroostook River, and within the urban compact area of Caribou, Maine at 142 
Lower Lyndon St. The 0.74-acre site is the central portion of Map 25 Lot 149AA owned by the
City of Caribou, approximately 0.5 miles from the downtown area. Located less than one half mile 
from the downtown area, the site is of local, regional, and international environmental concern. 
Site topography is flat with a steep embankment to the Aroostook River. This site was selected to
reduce the disproportionate impact of Brownfields in this area of the City, to safeguard and
improve the underserved disadvantaged adjacent neighborhood, alleviate concerns of contaminant 
spread, and protect the riverine environment. The Steam Plant and adjacent dam have historically 
(circa 1889) been the location of power generation (until 2012) and public water supply (until 
2006). The vacant Steam Plant produced electricity from 1949 until 2011. The abandoned 10,700 
square-foot, five-story building is in horrific disrepair with leaking roofs, broken windows, and is 
continuously boarded up to prevent trespassing and vandalism. The Steam Plant presents an 
overwhelming series of challenges to Caribou as it works to promote quality of life, economic 
development, and a revitalized riverfront.

Environmental Concerns: 
Previous environmental assessments conducted at the Steam Plant identified asbestos is the main 
concern for cleanup, but contaminants such as lead, mercury, universal and hazardous wastes, and 
waste oil in electrical equipment, tanks, drums and vessels, are of concern as well. Prior 
assessments have identified over 2 miles of asbestos-wrapped steam and water pipes; 1,600 square-
feet of asbestos-containing transite electrical boards and panels; 14,000 square-feet of asbestos-
coated condensers, ducts, vents, tanks, point heaters, steam headers, and vessels; two massive 
boilers coated with 8,200 square-feet of asbestos; 400 square feet of asbestos-containing floor tile 
and mastic; thousands of asbestos-containing piping gaskets; miles of asbestos-coated electrical 
wiring; 2,000 square-feet of asbestos-containing window glazing and caulking; and the entire roof 

Request For Qualifications & Fee Proposal
RFP 2025 – 08 

City of Caribou

30



2 
 

(tar and gravel) is contaminated with asbestos. The asbestos-wrapped piping, condensers, ducts, 
tanks, vessels, and two massive boilers are double-wrapped in steel-mesh jacketing, which is 
expected to be extremely difficult and time-consuming to remove and properly remediate. The 
turbines are equipped with lead diaphragms and equipment, tanks, and piping coated in lead-based 
paint. Over 5,000 gallons of waste oil remain in boiler day tanks, separation tanks, turbine 
reservoirs, transfer pumps, and drums, which are deteriorating at a rapid pace and would pose an 
unprecedented environmental risk to the Aroostook River if a catastrophic waste oil release occurs.  
 
Since the site’s abandonment, well prior to the City’s acquisition, the roof has deteriorated and 
began leaking; and metal scavengers have damaged virtually everything inside, including asbestos 
containing materials and waste oil-containing structures. Non-friable asbestos has deteriorated, 
and large volumes of friable asbestos are present. A limited removal of friable asbestos and waste 
oil was conducted in 2024 through CERCLA but further cleanup is needed to fully decontaminate 
the Steam Plant site to make it safe for redevelopment. For full remediation, demolition of the 
Steam Plant is necessary. A “Deconstruction Engineering Plan and Estimate of Probable Costs” 
completed by the EPA contractor upon completion of the preliminary emergency removal action 
is available for reference (see below). 
 
The goal of the cleanup plan is removal of all waste oil, asbestos-containing materials, lead-based 
paint, and universal waste. The Community Engagement Plan (CEP) will be prepared, public 
meetings and 30-day comment period will be conducted, and the ABCA will be finalized. A Site-
Specific Quality Assurance Project Plan (SSQAPP) will be prepared, and confirmatory sampling 
will be completed to ensure cleanup measures are correctly implemented. As determined by the 
ABCA, the optimum cleanup will be to first remove waste oil and universal wastes. However, 
because the ACM and lead paint are so integrated with the building elements, boilers, and other 
infrastructure, the only practical means to clean up these materials is to remove them concurrently 
with building demolition so that public health and safety risks and environmental threats posed by 
the deteriorating building will be eliminated. This is imperative for redevelopment of the property.  
 
During cleanup, the river and the public must be protected through erosion and sedimentation 
controls, dust suppression, site security, and perimeter air monitoring to confirm dust/contaminants 
are not leaving the site. Waste oil will require field testing. All waste oil and hazardous substances 
must be removed for off-site disposal by a Maine Licensed Hazardous Waste Transporter in 
accordance with OSHA Hazardous Waste Operations and Emergency Management Standards and 
Maine Waste Oil Management Rules. All asbestos-containing materials, lead-based paint, and 
universal waste, and demolition debris must be removed for off-site disposal by a Maine Licensed 
Asbestos Abatement Contractor, Hazardous Waste Transporter and/or demolition contractor, in 
accordance with OSHA General and Construction Standards, Maine Asbestos Management 
Regulations, and Universal Waste and Solid Waste Management Rules. Approximately 90% of 
the demolition debris will be reused or recycled, including brick, steel and concrete. The project is 
expected to take one year to complete. Cleanup documentation will be submitted to MEDEP with 
a Voluntary Response Action Program (VRAP) Completion Report and a VRAP Certificate of 
Closure will be obtained. 

 
The funding of EPA Cooperative Agreement will be used to cover the costs of activities at or in 
direct support of brownfields sites as defined under CERCLA 101(39).  The overall coordination 

31



3 
 

of the cooperative agreement will be carried out by the Caribou’s City Manager and Special 
Projects Coordinator, with technical assistance and oversight to be performed by a Qualified 
Environmental Professional (QEP) and Brownfields Advisory Committee (BAC). 
 
 
Scope of Services 
The following list of activities represents the scope of services being requested on behalf of the 
City for the former Caribou Steam Power Plant site cleanup. This scope of services is based on the 
City of Caribou’s work plan submitted to the EPA as part of the grant application. More details 
about these tasks can be found in the Project Narrative, Cleanup Workplan, Draft ABCA, 
Deconstruction Engineering and Costs located on the City’s website at 
 
https://www.cariboumaine.org/rfps/ 
 
 
Task 1 – Cooperative Agreement Oversight 
Specific subtasks for Task 1 include: 
 
Reporting and Tracking: Prepare annual and quarterly reports, Federal Financial Report forms; 
enter site data into the Assessment, Cleanup and Redevelopment Exchange System (ACRES); and 
maintain site project files, including establishment of an information repository. 
 
Task 2 – Public Meetings and Community Involvement 
Specific subtasks for Task 2 include: 
 
Community Engagement Plan: Prepare plan for involving the public in cleanup activities, with 
focus on how adjacent landowners, target community, and public will be made aware of project, 
meeting times and dates, and comment periods. Establish an information repository and prepare a 
‘fact sheet’ regarding the cleanup project, including answers to frequently asked questions to 
improve public understanding of the project. 
 
Implement 30-Day Public Comment Period on Analysis of Brownfields Cleanup 
Alternatives: Receive and respond to questions and comments. 
 
Public Meetings: Ensure at least three (3) public meetings with any requested translation services, 
to inform and improve the understanding of the public about cleanup activities, allowing for input 
and resultant potential modifications. 
 
Task 3- Site Specific Activities  
Specific subtasks for Task 3 include: 
 
Hold Kickoff Meeting 
 
Ensure site is enrolled in MEDEP VRAP 
 
Address Historic Preservation/Section 106 applicability 

32



4 
 

 
Prepare Final Analysis of Brownfields Cleanup Alternatives (ABCA) 
 
Considerations for Resilient and Greener Cleanups 
 
Prepare Decision Document based on public input 
 
Prepare Remedial Design and Engineering Documents 
 
Prepare Site Specific Quality Assurance Project Plan (SSQAPP) and Health and Safety Plan 
(HASP) 
 
Bidding, Selection of Environmental Cleanup Contractor: Prepare bid package, including 
engineering design documents (plans, specifications), Davis-Bacon requirements, and bid form 
according to EPA guidelines and City of Caribou Purchasing Policy. Prepare budget detailing how 
EPA funds will be used to clean up the site. Conduct site visits with interested contractors. 
 
Task 4 – Oversee Site Cleanup 
Specific subtasks for Task 4 include: 
 
Oversight of Cleanup Activities: Conduct  site inspections to ensure proper procedures are being 
followed and that work is performed according to bid documents; ensure that wage rates and 
posters are available to workers on-site; collect, review, and maintain payrolls; conduct on-site 
labor interviews; ensure cleanup is conducted according to applicable MEDEP rules and 
guidelines; and ensure work is proceeding according to the established timeline. Specifically, 
oversight of the removal of waste oil and hazardous substances; removal of ACM, LBP, universal 
& hazardous waste; Maintain removal, transport and disposal records, including asbestos waste 
shipment records and hazardous waste manifests; demolition and site restoration. 
 
Project Updates: Prepare and submit weekly updates, including photographs of work in progress. 
 
Confirmatory Sampling: Collection of post-cleanup samples. 
 
Cleanup Documentation: Prepare and submit close-out documentation to MEDEP indicating that 
cleanup is complete and identifies any institutional controls and long-term monitoring; receive 
final cleanup documentation from MEDEP and submit to EPA; and prepare final report and grant 
closeout material. The City will seek a revised VRAP from the MEDEP so that redevelopment of 
the Caribou Steam Power Plant site will be bankable. 
 
Firms considering responding to this request for proposals may find information and resources to 
be helpful and informative at https://www.cariboumaine.org/rfps/ 
 
A mandatory site walk-through is scheduled for Thursday, September 18, at 2:00 pm. 
 
 
The complete proposal selection schedule can be found on page five. 

33



5 
 

Schedule: 
The proposal selection schedule is as follows: 
 
Request for proposals published    9/8/2025 
Mandatory pre-bid site walk-through    9/18/2025 @ 2:00 p.m. 
All questions must be submitted by    9/23/2025 @ 2:00 p.m. 
All questions will be answered by     9/30/2025 @ 2:00 p.m. 
 
**Questions and answers will be posted on the city website at: https://www.cariboumaine.org/rfps/ 
 
Receive Proposals from Consultants    10/9/2025 @ 2:00 p.m. 
Selection Review Committee Meets    10/10/2025 
Interview of firms, if needed     10/14 and 10/15/2025 
Bid consideration / approval by Caribou City Council 10/20/2025 
 
Execute Contract      11/01/2025  
 
 
It is the intent of the City to set the duration of the contract through September 30, 2029, to allow 
for a final closeout report. All other work should be completed by June 30, 2029. 
 
Electronic proposal submissions will not be accepted. All submissions will become property of the 
City of Caribou and will not be returned. 
 
The Caribou City Council shall have the authority to reject any and all proposals when proposals 
are deemed non-responsive, token, collusive or otherwise non-acceptable, and such an action is in 
the best interest of the City. The City of Caribou reserves the right to waive any defect or 
informality in any proposal. The City of Caribou is not liable for any costs incurred by firms prior 
to the issuance of a contract, including any costs incurred in responding to this request for 
proposals. It is expressly understood and agreed that the submission of a proposal does not require 
or obligate the City of Caribou to pursue an agreement or contract with any firm. 
 
A mandatory site walk-through is scheduled for Thursday, September 18, at 2:00 pm. 
 
Required RFP Submission Contents: 
 
Consultants' response to this RFP shall include: 
 
1. Cover Letter: Provide a cover letter expressing the firm’s interest in working with City of 
Caribou staff, EPA, MEDEP, and other stakeholders. The firm shall affirm that they and all 
subconsultants used in this project will meet all requirements of the EPA Brownfields program 
and the Cooperative Agreement. This letter should be on your firm’s letterhead and signed by an 
officer of the firm authorized to bind the firm to all comments made in the proposal and shall 
include the name, address and phone number of the person(s) to contact who will be authorized to 
represent your firm. 
 

34



6 
 

2. Organizational Profile and Qualifications: Provide a summary of all personnel to be involved 
in the project including all subconsultants. Designate the Principal in Charge, the Project Manager, 
Community Relations Manager, and other key personnel, and identify who the primary contact 
will be on this project. Provide personal resumes illustrating the experience and background of key 
personnel who will be assigned to the project. Provide an overall history and description of 
qualifications for your firm, as well as for any of your proposed subconsultants. Provide proof of 
liability insurance for your firm and your proposed subconsultants. Provide information regarding 
your firm’s current staffing, current workload, and availability to provide the scope of services as 
soon as the contract is awarded. 
 
3. Approach to the Project and Timeline: Include the following information: Describe the 
approach to be taken toward completion of each of the four (4) tasks outlined above and an 
explanation of any proposed variations to the work program. Address each of the four (4) tasks 
separately. Also provide a timeline for completing the various components of the scope of services 
requested. See the suggested work plan for guidelines. The final timeline will be negotiated in the 
contract. The period of performance for this grant is July 1, 2025, to September 30, 2029. 
 
4. Communication, Collaboration, and References: Describe your communication strategy and 
ability to collaborate effectively with City, property owners, and other stakeholders. Describe your 
working relationships with State and Federal partners, including MEDEP and EPA. Provide 
references to corroborate this information. 
 
5. Familiarity with Environmental Cleanup: List representative examples of related work 
(projects) your firm has performed over the past three (3) years which illustrates your firm’s role 
and experience in providing the scope of services requested. For each example (project), include 
a brief description and a reference with contact information. Also provide a list of all current EPA-
funded Brownfields projects (assessment, cleanup, revolving loan fund, etc.) that your firm is 
currently working on. 
 
6. Fee Proposal: Provide a budget for your submitted proposal in chart form, broken down by 
each of the four (4) tasks. Further, for each of the four (4) tasks, provide a chart showing the 
estimated number of hours spent by each employee or subconsultant as well as their hourly rates 
or fees, as well as a schedule of other basic costs. No contracts shall be awarded wherein the fee 
is stated as a percentage of the project cost. The actual scope of services may change based on 
final redevelopment plans and final costs for conducting remedial actions. The City of Caribou 
reserves the right to negotiate the scope of services of the contract as well as its terms and 
conditions to fit the City’s needs and priorities from the selected consultant’s hourly rate schedule. 
 
Selection Process 
 
A Selection Review Committee (SRC) shall evaluate proposals. The Selection Review Committee 
will be responsible for screening proposals, conducting interviews of selected firms, and ranking 
the firms. The highest rated consultant will be recommended to the Caribou City Council for award 
of the contract. The Caribou City Council will make the final decision regarding the selection of 
the consultant chosen.  
The City reserves the right to solicit additional information from the consultant or their references. 

35



7 
 

The Caribou City Council shall have the authority to reject any and all bids when bids are deemed 
non-responsive, token, collusive or otherwise non-acceptable, and such action is in the best interest 
of the City. 
 
The SRC will use the following general criteria in evaluating the proposals for recommendation 
to the Caribou City Council:  
 
1. The clarity of the proposal, the understanding of the project site, the cleanup project, and its 
objectives, and responsiveness to the work program. 
2. The respondent’s experience and qualifications to perform the requested scope of services, with 
particular attention on experience with successful projects similar in size and nature/complexity 
to this one. 
3. The degree to which the respondent demonstrates an ability to work effectively and coordinate 
activities with City of Caribou staff, EPA, MEDEP, and other interested stakeholders. 
4. The firm’s demonstrated ability to maintain an appropriate relationship with the City staff and 
project contractors. 
5. Resumes of the personnel who will be assigned to this project identifying their specific role, 
including relevant experience. 
6. References of last three similar cleanup projects. 
7. Reasonable and appropriate budget description. 
 
Each proposal will be ranked according to the Selection Review Committee’s evaluation as 
follows: 
 
Quality of Project Team (20 Points) 
Qualifications of the firm or firms assigned, including appropriate areas of expertise, relevant 
experience, technical capabilities and quality references that suggest they are the best qualified to 
undertake the project, in addition to knowledge of the northern Maine region, relevant work 
experience with Maine DEP and the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Demonstrated 
capacity showing ability to carry out the RFP scope of services. Resumes of the professionals 
assigned to the project including technical attributes and relevant experience that make them 
uniquely qualified to undertake this project. 
 
Overall Quality of Proposed Project Approach (20 Points) 
The technical quality and composition of proposed approach and consistency of approach with the 
project work plan and EPA program objectives. Proposed timeline best meeting the work plan 
requirements of the City’s cleanup of Caribou Steam Power Plant.  
 
Communication, Collaboration, and References (20 Points) 
Demonstrated ability of the firm and the proposal to effectively communicate program and 
findings to the public; ability to work effectively and coordinate activities with the City, property 
owners, real estate professionals, and other stakeholders; solid working relationships with State 
and Federal partners; and review of references. 
 
Familiarity with Environmental Cleanup (15 Points) 
Breadth and depth of experience and management of Brownfields/Environmental Cleanup grants. 

36



8 

Fee Proposal/Budget (25 Points) 
Provide detailed estimate of all costs to complete the each of the four tasks in the Scope of Services 
Provide an itemized breakdown of costs, including labor, materials, and overhead, explaining any 
cost-saving measures or efficiencies to demonstrate value.  Clearly link specific costs to project 
phases or deliverables to show how the budget supports project outcomes.  
A schedule of all hourly rates and charges to be charged to task orders including subconsultants 

Following the review of proposals, one or more firms may be selected for interviews by the 
Selection Review Committee. 

Additional Resources 

Firms considering responding to this request for proposals may find information and resources to 
be helpful and informative at: 

https://www.cariboumaine.org/rfps/ 

Payment 

The consultant shall be paid based on hourly rates agreed to, with a “Not to Exceed” amount 
negotiated for each deliverable and that is tied to the project schedule and benchmarks. 

Conclusion 

A mandatory site walk-through is scheduled for Thursday, September 18, at 2:00 pm. 

Proposals will be received in the office of the City Manager, Caribou Municipal Building, 25 High 
Street, Caribou, Maine 04736 on Thursday, October 9, 2025, until 2:00 p.m. No electronic/email 
submissions will be accepted. Please indicate on the outside of the submission that it is for: 
“Request for Qualifications and Fee Proposal – FY2025 Brownfields Cleanup” 

The consultant shall submit: 
 Nine (9) copies of their proposals: 

Eight (8) Bound Copies for use by the Selection Review Committee 
One (1) PDF file to facilitate document reproduction 

Questions regarding this request should be directed to Penny Thompson, City Manager via email 
at pthompson@cariboumaine.org or by telephone at (207) 493-5961. 

37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



 

 
Caribou City Council – October 20, 2025 Memo Re: Façade Improvement Grant Applications                   Page 1 of 3 

CARIBOU ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
25 HIGH STREET 
CARIBOU, ME 04736 

 
 
  

                               
 

 
MEMO 
 

TO: Caribou City Council Members 
FROM: Eric Sanderson, Economic & Community Development Specialist 
DATE: October 20, 2025 
RE: Façade Improvement Grant Applications & Review Committee Recommendation 
 
Introduction 
The City of Caribou’s Façade Improvement Grant Program is financed via Tax Increment Financing (TIF) 
program funding for the Downtown TIF and RC-2 District TIF. Each year, the City Council has allocated 
$40,000 to be applied for biannually, with applications due on March 15th and September 30th. The City did 
not receive any applications for the March round of funding, so all $40,000 is available for consideration of 
award for the applications received on September 30th. Applications, the application form, program fact 
sheet, and scoring criteria are all contained in the materials attached to this memo. 
 
Applications 
Six applications were received, and are summarized by staff below (in no particular order): 

 
                                             Total: $27,251 

52



 
2 of 3 
 

Review Committee Recommendation 
Bill Flagg, Powers Building – 46 Sweden Street 
 
Upon review, the Committee ranked Mr. Flagg’s application extremely high with the project being in the 
Downtown area of Sweden Street, adding to the City’s sense of place and being in a highly visible area. We 
believe this is a great project and are delighted to see Mr. Flagg’s commitment to the Caribou community.  
 
Recommendation: Approve award in the amount of $7,500 
 
Elise Browning & Marie Kilpatrick, Aroostook County Children’s Museum – 52 Sweden Street 
 
The Committee ranked the Children’s Museum’s application extremely high with the project being in the 
Downtown area of Sweden Street, adding to the City’s sense of place and being in a highly visible area. 
Additionally, the mural will involve local artists and community members and the materials can be sourced 
locally. We are excited to have the Children’s Museum in Caribou and welcome it to our community, and 
being directly adjacent to the Powers Building gives the City Council the chance to have two high-impact 
projects on Sweden Street in the same application cycle completed. The Committee and Children’s Museum 
discussed use of more durable and weather resistant paints, which would increase project costs. After review, 
we believe an amount higher than $5,000 is warranted and recommend approval of up to $7,500 conditional 
upon receipts for the durable paints and installation work.  
 
Recommendation: Approve award up to the amount of $7,500, conditional upon provision of receipts  

       or cost estimates for the façade work showing $15,000 or greater total project cost. 
 
Kate McCartney, Magic Scizzors – 147 High Street 
 
The Committee highly recommends approval of award for the steps and high quality railing at Magic 
Scizzors. This is a high visibility area of High Street and the project is already complete. The results from 
before and after are incredible, and this project scored highly by the Committee.  
 
Recommendation: Approve award in the amount of $1,000 
 
Kate McCartney, Fireside Café – 46 Fort Street 
 
We are extremely excited to recommend approval of funding for the Fireside Café, which will use a highly 
skilled Aroostook County crafter for its new sign, and is in a visible area of Route 1 and Fort Street. We 
know the business will be a community asset with locally sourced and made foods/baked goods. The 
application originally requested $4,818, however, this was the full project amount and the grant is a 50% 
match, so only $2,409 would be eligible for award. After further discussions with Kate and her team, she will 
also buy 1 piece of faux stone siding, 2 faux topiary trees, 5 hardwired high beam motion sensor detection 
lights, and 5 wire protection baskets to cover the motion sensor lights. The additional cost of these 
improvements is estimated to be $1,045.23. Adding that to the original project costs of $4,818 brings total 
project cost to $5,863.23, with a 50% award of $2,931.62 eligible to be awarded. 
 
Recommendation: Approve award up to the amount of $7,500, conditional upon provision of receipts. 
 
 

53



 
3 of 3 
 

Kevin McCartney and Kerry Crandall, Rotary Club of Caribou - Multiple Locations City-Wide 

Mr. McCartney and Mr. Crandall are proposing continuation of funding for purchasing lilacs. The 
Committee also discussed with the applicants the possibility of finding additional volunteers for the plant 
delivery and installation. The Committee reviewed this as a “living façade” application, and recommends 
approval for the funding noting that at least 100 of the plants purchased must be utilized at properties in the 
Downtown and RC-2 TIF districts.  

 
Recommendation: Approve award in the amount of $3,200 with the condition that at least 100 plants 
be utilized in properties located in either the Downtown or RC-2 TIF Disricts.  
 
Jim Soucy, Jim’s Auto Care & U-Haul – 38 Access Highway  
 
The Committee was excited to review the application for fencing, siding work, and signage at Jim’s Auto 
Care. The location is high visibility, seeing additional traffic due to the development in the Caribou Light 
Industrial Park, and uses local materials. The application ranked highly in the Committee’s review, and in 
discussions with Mr. Soucy he noted there are other materials and costs as part of the façade and fencing 
project that will not be known until the work is completed. He confirmed the cost will exceed $15,000, and 
based on our review, the Committee recommends approval to award the funds in the amount up to $7,500, 
conditional upon provision of further receipts or cost estimates. 
 
Recommendation: Approve award up to the amount of $7,500, conditional upon provision of receipts  

       or cost estimates for the façade work showing $15,000 or greater total project cost. 
 
Conclusion 
With the conditional recommendations for additional funding for the Aroostook County Children’s Museum, 
Fireside Café, and Jim’s Auto Care projects, the total potential allocation amount is up to $34,200. 
 
Suggested Action: 
 
After discussion, please make a motion “to allocate 2025 funds for the Façade Improvement Grant pursuant 
to the Review Committee’s recommendation in the amount of $34,200”. 
 
Second 
 
Discussion 

54



Façade Improvement Grant Committee 
Friday October 3, 2025 ~ 3:00 pm 

Caribou City Council Chambers 

Six applications were received: 

Bill Flag Powers Building       46 Sweden St  3:15pm   

Elise Browning/Marie Killpatrick- Children’s Museum: 52 Sweden St  3:30pm 

Kate McCartney       Magic Siczzors          147 High St 3:45pm 

Kate McCartney  Fireside Café           46 Fort St 4:00pm 

Kevin McCartney and Kerry Crandall   Though out the City 4:15pm 

Jim Soucy Jims Auto Care & U-Haul  38 Access HWY    Not attending 

The amount available for this grant period is: $40,000 

Pages in the packet: pages 

Grant application (refresher for the program guidelines): 02-06

Score sheet:  07

46 Sweden Street application materials: 08-11

52 Sweden Street application materials: 12-18

147 High Street application materials:  19-23

Throughout the City 24

46 Fort Street application materials  25-33

Also, for consideration, not attending 38 Access HWY 34-40

1 55



The City of Caribou Facade Improvement Grant Program is a partnership between the City of
Caribou and private sector building owners to improve the exteriors of commercial and mixed-use
properties in Caribou. The program offers matching grant funds for the purpose of 
restoring/renovating commercial storefronts and poor-quality commercial signs and awnings to
combat blight and boost the economy in our community. 

Program Summary

• The program is structured as a 50/50 matching grant for improvements to the exterior of
businesses located in Caribou that are visible from the street.

• The program is open to commercial or mixed-use property located in the Downtown Tax
Increment Financing (TIF) District and the RC-2 Tax Increment Financing District where the 
funding for this program is generated.

• The intent of this program is to:
• Encourage property owners to make visible improvements to their businesses; and 
• Enhance the unique character and aesthetic appearance of the City of Caribou; and 
• Maintain community structures to minimize the economic impact of blight. 

• Grant recipients will be reimbursed up to fifty percent (50%) - not to exceed $7,500 -  of the
cost of eligible expenses upon satisfactory completion of the work.   

• The City will provide these funds through a semi-annual competitive application process with
application deadlines of April 15 and September 30. Notice of fund availability will be
advertised in a newspaper of general circulation, on the city’s website and social media
platforms no less than thirty days prior to the application deadline.

• The Facade Improvement Committee will review, and award applications based on the criteria
for eligible projects outlined below. Applicants will be notified of their awards within thirty
days of the application deadline.  

City of Caribou
Facade Improvement Grant

2 56



Eligible Projects 
Facade Improvement Grant funds are available for improvements of any commercial property 
within Caribou that meets the following criteria: 
 
• To be eligible for reimbursement, all improvements must be visible from a public right-of-

way and located in Caribou’s Downtown TIF district or the RC-2 Tax Increment Financing 
District. For more information or to find out if your business is in the TIF district, visit: 

https://www.cariboumaine.org/departments/developcaribou/business-assistance-programming/ 
 
• Examples of eligible improvements include, but are not limited to: 

• Repairs or improvements to the exterior siding 
• Cleaning, repointing, or removing paint from exterior brick 
• Restoring or replacing windows 
• Restoring or replacing doors 
• A fresh coat of paint 
• Signage enhancements (masonry, skirting, ornamental lighting, etc.) 
• Decorative or privacy fencing 

 
• The maximum City contribution for each grant application is as follows:  

• Major façade restoration: up to $7,500 
• New coat of paint: up to $2,000 
• Signage Enhancements: up to $1,500 
• Sign-face changes: up to $750 
• Fencing: up to $2,000 

 
All awards are subject to funding availability. The City reserves the right to award funding in a 
manner it deems appropriate to meet the intent of these funds and assist as many properties as 
possible. Requests may not be fully awarded. 
 

• Each applicant may only be awarded one grant per calendar year per parcel. 
• Projects must be completed within 18 months of the award. 

 
Program Requirements  
• Work must comply with all City of Caribou codes including local ordinances and the Maine 

Uniform Building and Energy Code (MUBEC).  
 
• Projects must have all appropriate permits and be designed by a qualified design professional. 

Requests related to signs must have designs produced by a professional sign maker/printer. 
The design of all proposed signage must be submitted with the Façade Grant application. The 
proposed signage must comply with all applicable codes and ordinances. A sign permit must 
be obtained, and all work must be done in compliance with Caribou Land Use Ordinance Sign 
Regulations. If signage is on a Maine Department of Transportation maintained road, signage 
must meet MDOT standards. 

 
• If the property has been declared dangerous by the Caribou City Council in accordance with 

MRSA Title 17 §285, the applicant shall not be eligible. 
 

• The applicant must provide written estimates for all work for which they wish to be 
reimbursed. Only eligible expenses will be reimbursed. Upon completion, the applicant must 
provide receipts for completed work and/or supplies. Funds will be disbursed only after 

3 57



satisfactory completion of the approved work and documentation is received by the city. 
  
• Upon request, a ribbon cutting ceremony will be planned by City Staff/Council to celebrate 

the improvements and raise awareness in the community. 
 
• Applicants must be property owners or tenants with the property owner’s written consent. 

 
• The site for which funds are requested shall not have outstanding code violations or tax liens. 
 
Application Review Process  
• Grant candidates will be selected and recommended by a five (5) member committee, which 

includes : one member of the Caribou City Council, Caribou Development Committee, the 
Caribou Economic Growth Council, and the Caribou Planning Board. The City Manager, Code 
Enforcement Officer and City Building Official will advise the committee. The Caribou City 
Council will announce final approval and selection of recipients. 

 
• When determining which applications will receive funding, priority will be given to: 

• Projects that demonstrate the greatest overall need / urgency 
• Permanent structures 
• Buildings with high visibility and/or large street frontages 
• Material quality 
• Contribution to placemaking in the downtown 
• Consistence with the comprehensive plan 
• Business retention and expansion capabilities from award 
• Wayfinding assistance 
• Use of local labor for the work 
• Applicants who did not receive funding during the previous grant cycle  
• Blight remediation 

 
Application Procedure 
 
• The application is available on the City’s website (www.cariboumaine.org) under Grants. 

Applications may be obtained in person at the Caribou City Office, 25 High Street.  
 
• The deadline to apply is 4:30 p.m. on April 15 or September 30 or next business day if deadline 

falls on a weekend. 
 
• Applications must include all relevant information, including a written summary of the request 

and urgency for the funds, a cost estimate for the proposed work, photographs of the project 
location, and design drawings or photo mockups. 

 
 
• This grant is taxable and will need to be reported to the IRS. W-9 forms will be required to 

issue the reimbursement and are attached to the application.   
 
• The selection committee may conduct applicant interviews.  

 
 Submit the application by mail, in person, or by email to pthompson@cariboumaine.org. If 

applying by mail or in person, please submit the application to:  

4 58



City Manager’s Office 
City of Caribou 

25 High St. 
Caribou, ME 04736 

Questions? Contact: 

Penny Thompson 
City Manager 
pthompson@cariboumaine.org 
(207) 493 – 5961

The City of Caribou is committed to cleaning up blighted properties and restoring community vitality. The Facade 
Grant program is one of the tools that can be used to counteract, prevent, and reduce the effects of blight on 
community enhancement and economic development endeavors. The City is authorized by the state to have a 
Facade Improvement Grant Program using funds from Tax Increment Funds collected each year.  

5 59



Facade Improvement Grant Program Application 
 
Applicant Name:___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Address:_________________________________________________________________________________  
 
Address of structure: _______________________________________________________________________ 
 
Phone:________________________________    Email:___________________________________________ 
 
Describe project in detail (please attach photos & other information as appropriate): 
 
 
 
  
 
  
Proposed Project Costs (please attach estimates): 
 

Contractor Labor  Materials Total Bid 

    

    

    

    

    

 
                                      
 

 The total City of Caribou contribution for each grant application is the lesser amount of 50% of the project 
cost or the following project maximum :  
      

• Major façade restoration: up to $7,500 
• New coat of paint: up to $2,000  
• Sign-face changes: up to $750 
• Signage Enhancements: up to $1,500 
• Fencing: up to 2,000 

 
 
   
Estimated Total Project Cost:_____________________ Grant amount requested:____________________ 

Applicant Signature:______________________________________________________________________ 

6 60



 
MEMO 

TO:  City Council 
FROM: Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 
RE:  Board Appointments 
DATE: October 8, 2025  
 
 
 

We have vacancies on the Caribou Housing board of Commissioners that need to be filled due to 
members resigning.  We have received applications and need to appoint two people to fill the 
vacancy for the remainder of the term.  

 

We have received applications from both Roger Soucy and Stephen Wentworth. 

The positions that are open have terms ending on December 31, 2027 and December 31, 2028.  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Suggested Action: 
 
Move to appoint ___________________ to the Caribou Housing Commission with a term 
ending on December 31, 2027 and _________________________ with a term ending on 
December 31, 2028.  
 
Second 
 
Discuss  
 
Vote  

61



  

 
 
MEMO 
 
TO:       Mayor and City Council Members 
FROM:   Lisa Plourde, Housing Director 
Date:       October 8, 2025 
RE:       Housing Board of Commissioners Appointments 
 
 
 
The Caribou Housing Authority currently has two vacancies on our Board of Commissioners that need 
to be filled due to members resigning.  Per the Maine Statue, Title 30 §4723; “commissioners who are 
initially appointed serve for terms of 2, 3, 4, and 5 years”; except all vacancies must be filled for the 
unexpired terms.” 
 
To date we have received two applications and request that they be appointed to the Board for the 
remainder of the unexpired terms. 
 
Please appoint: 
 
 Stephen Wentworth, for the term ending December 31, 2027 
 
 Roger Soucy, for the term ending December 31, 2028 
 
 

   25 High Street 
              Caribou, ME  04736 

                                                Telephone:  (207) 493-4234 
                                Fax (207) 376-0178 

                   www.caribouhousing.org 

                                                                                                                                        
 

62

http://www.caribouhousing.org/


 
 

 
CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Danielle Brissette  
RE:   Ordinance No. 04, 2025 Series, Amending Chapter 17 General Assistance  
DATE:  October 8, 2025 
 

 
Each year a new set of General Assistance Maximums are provided by the Maine Welfare 
Director’s Association (MWDA) and Maine Municipal Administration (MMA) and we have to 
make adjustments to our Maximums as set by the state.  We do have the option to place higher 
amounts for the maximums, but at this time it is not believed to be necessary to do so.   
 
Tonight, we will have a public hearing on Ordinance No. 4 2025 Series, Amending Chapter 17 
General Assistance. 
 
Suggested Action:   
 
Please open the public hearing and ask for public comment.  
 
After closing the public hearing, please make a motion to approve Ordinance No. 04, 2025 
Series, Amending Chapter 17 General Assistance and to adopt the 2025 version of the MMA 
model GA Ordinance. 
 
Second 
 
Discuss  
 
Vote 

63



Ordinance Introduced by Councilor Deputy Mayor Smith 
on September 15, 2025 

 
Ordinance No. 04, 2025 Series 

City of Caribou 
County of Aroostook 

State of Maine 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 17 General Assistance  
Short Title:  An ordinance Amending General Assistance Guidelines 
 
The City Council of the City of Caribou, County of Aroostook, State of Maine, pursuant to the 
requirements of the City of Caribou Charter, Section 2.11 (1) does ordain the following: 

Section I. Amendments to Ordinance 

 A.  Appendix A of Chapter 17 of the Caribou City Ordinances is hereby amended to read 
as follows: 

OVERALL MAXIMUMS  

      
# in 
Household 

2020/2021 2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024 2024/2025 2025/2026 

One $649.00 $655.00 $692.00 $742.00 $766.00 $803.00 
Two $710.00 $717.00 $754.00 $812.00 $842.00 $871.00 
Three $831.00 $840.00 $881.00 $951.00 $1,043.00 $1,085.00 
Four $1,119.00 $1,132.00 $1,185.00 $1,281.00 $1,421.00 $1,486.00 
Five $1,200.00 $1,254.00 $1,353.00 $1,464.00 $1,524.00 $1,569.00 
Six $1,275.00 $1,329.00 $1,428.00 $1,539.00 $1,599.00 $1,644.00 

Add $75 for each additional person 
 

 B.  Appendix B of Chapter 17 of the Caribou City Ordinance is hereby amended to read as 
follows: 

The maximum amounts allowed for food are established in accordance with the U.S.D.A. Thrifty Food 
Plan.  As of October 1, 2025, those amounts are: 

2025-2026 FOOD MAXIMUMS 

Number in Household Weekly Maximum Monthly Maximum 
1 $69.30 $298.00 
2 $126.98 $546.00 
3 $ 182.56 $785.00 
4 $231.16 $994.00 
5 $275.12 $1,183.00 
6 $330.47 $1,421.00 
7 $365.35 $1,571.00 
8 $416.05 $1,789.00 

NOTE:  For each additional person add $218.00 per month. 
 

 c.  Appendix C of Chapter 17 of the Caribou City Ordinance is hereby amended to read as  
      follows: 64



A listing of the maximum levels of assistance for housing (both heated and unheated) 

  UNHEATED HEATED 

Number of 
Bedrooms Weekly Monthly Weekly Monthly 

 
0 $149 $640 $181 $779  

1 $155 $667 $196 $844  

2 $192 $826 $245 $1,054  

3 $273 $1,174 $338 $1,451  

4 $278 $1,196 $356 $1,529  

Recovery Residence $147.00 $633.00  
26+ rooms $102.90 $443.10  

 

 D.  Appendix D of Chapter 17 of the Caribou City Ordinance is hereby amended to read as 
follows: 

NOTE:  For an electrically heated dwelling also see Appendix E – Heating Fuel.  But remember, an 
applicant is not automatically entitled to the “maximums” established – applicants must demonstrate 
need.  

 1) Electricity Maximums for Household Without Electric Hot Water: The maximum amounts 
allowed for utilities, for lights, cooking and other electric excluding hot water and heat: 

Number in Household Weekly Monthly 
1 $19.95 $85.50 
2 $22.52 $96.50 
3 $24.97 $107.00 
4 $27.53 $118.00 
5 $29.88 $128.50 
6 $32.55 $139.50 
NOTE: For each additional person add $10.50 per month 

 2) Electricity Maximums for Household With Electrically Heated Hot Water: The 
Maximum amounts allowed for utilities, hot water, for lights, cooking and other electric uses 
excluding heat.  

Number in Household Weekly Monthly 
1 $29.63 $127.00 
2 $34.07 $146.00 
3 $39.67 $170.00 
4 $46.32 $198.50 
5 $55.65 $238.50 
6 $58.68 $251.50 
NOTE: For each additional person add $14.50 per month 

 NOTE: When the dwelling unit is heated electrically, the maximum amount allowed for heating 
purposes will be calculated by multiplying the number of gallons of fuel allowed for that month 
by the current price per gallon.  When fuels such as wood, coal and/or natural gas are used 
applicant shall be considered to need more than 7 tons of coal per year, 8 cords of wood per year, 
126,000 cubic feet of natural gas per year, or 1,000 gallons of propane.  

 E.  Appendix H of Chapter 17 of the Caribou City Ordinance is hereby amended to read as 
follows: 65



Funeral Maximums 

Burial Maximums 

The maximum amount of general assistance granted for the purpose of burial is $1,620 Additional costs 
may be allowed by the GA administrator, where there is an actual cost, for: 

• The wholesale cost of a cement liner if the cemetery by-laws require one; 
• The opening and closing of the grave site; and 
• A lot in the least expensive section of the cemetery.  If the municipality is able to provide a 

cemetery lot in a municipally owned cemetery or in a cemetery under municipal control, the cost 
of the cemetery lot in any other cemetery will not be paid by the municipality.  

The municipality’s obligation to provide funds for burial purposes is limited to a reasonable calculation 
of the funeral director’s direct costs, not to exceed the maximum amounts of assistance described in this 
section.  Allowable burial expenses are limited to:  

• Removal of the body from a local residence or institution 
• A secured death certificate or obituary 
• Embalming  
• A minimum casket 
• A reasonable cost for necessary transportation 
• Other reasonable and necessary specified direct costs, as itemized by the funeral director and 

approved by the municipal administrator. 

Cremation Maximums 

The maximum amount of assistance granted for a cremation shall be $1,125.  Additional costs may be 
allowed by the GA administrator where there is an actual cost, for:  

• A cremation lot in the least expensive section of the cemetery 
• A reasonable cost for a burial urn not to exceed $55 
• Transportation costs borne by the funeral director at a reasonable rate per mile for transporting 

the remains to and from the cremation facility.  

This ordinance, being introduced on September 15, 2025 and a public hearing being held on October 
20, 2025 was duly passed by the City Council of the City of Caribou, Maine, this 20th day of October  
2025.  

 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Courtney Boma, Mayor   Jody Smith, Deputy Mayor 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Daniel Bagley, Councilor   Jennifer Kelley, Councilor 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Tamara Lovewell, Councilor   Joan Theriault, Councilor 
 
______________________________   
Paul Watson, Councilor  
        

 Attest: ______________________________ 
Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 66



[For use when adopting a new version of the GA ordinance or amending the body of the 
ordinance – not solely adoption of updated appendices] 

Rev. 8-2021 

MUNICIPALITY OF __________ 

GENERAL ASSISTANCE ORDINANCE  

Pursuant to 22 M.R.S. § 4305(1), the municipal officers of the Municipality of 

__________________________, after notice and hearing, hereby enact the attached General 

Assistance Ordinance with appendices in its entirety. This Ordinance shall supercede and 

replace all previous Ordinance versions. A copy of this Ordinance will be filed with the Maine 

Department of Health & Human Services (DHHS) pursuant to 22 M.R.S. § 4305(4), and shall be 

available for public inspection at the municipal office along with a copy of 22 M.R.S. chapter 

1161.  

Signed this _______ day of ________________, 20___, by the municipal officers: 

  

__________________________            ______________________________ 

(Print Name)                                                                   (Signature) 

__________________________            ______________________________ 

(Print Name)                                                                   (Signature) 

__________________________            ______________________________ 

(Print Name)                                                                   (Signature) 

__________________________            ______________________________ 

(Print Name)                                                                    (Signature) 

_________________________              ______________________________ 

(Print Name)                                                                    (Signature) 

 

[Send a copy of the enactment page and ordinance to DHHS, 109 Capitol Street, SHS 11, Augusta, ME 04330-0011] 

67



[For use when adopting updated appendices only without amending the body of an existing GA 
ordinance] 

Rev. 8-2021 

 

MUNICIPALITY OF _______________ 

GENERAL ASSISTANCE ORDINANCE  

Pursuant to 22 M.R.S. § 4305(1), the municipal officers of the Municipality of 

________________________, after notice and hearing, hereby amend the municipal General 

Assistance Ordinance by repealing and replacing appendices A through H of the existing 

ordinance with the attached appendices A through H, which shall be in effect from October 1, 

202__ through September 30, 202__.  This amendment will be filed with the Maine Department of 

Health & Human Services (DHHS) pursuant to 22 M.R.S. § 4305(4), and a copy of the ordinance 

and amended appendices shall be available for public inspection at the municipal office along with 

a copy of the 22 M.R.S. chapter 1161.  

Signed this _______ day of ________________, 20___, by the municipal officers: 

__________________________          ________________________________ 

(Print Name)                                                                   (Signature) 

__________________________             ________________________________ 

(Print Name)                                                                   (Signature) 

__________________________             ________________________________ 

(Print Name)                                                                   (Signature) 

__________________________             ________________________________ 

(Print Name)                                                                    (Signature) 

_________________________               ________________________________ 

(Print Name)                                                                    (Signature) 

[Please send a copy of the enactment page only to  DHHS, 109 Capitol Street, SHS 11, Augusta, ME 04330-0011] 

68



CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  
25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  
MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Penny Thompson, City Manager  
DATE:  October 20, 2025 

  RE:   September Financial Report, presented by Finance Director Carl Grant  
 
 

 
Finance Director Carl Grant will present the September Financial Reports. 
 
 
Suggested action: 
 
After the presentation, please make a motion “to accept the September Financial Report as presented”. 
 
Second 
 
Discussion 
 
Vote 
 
 

69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



City Manager's Report
October 20, 2025

 

Economic Projects

  

River Front - Powerplants
Diesel Plant - Demo out for bid, mandatory walk-through scheduled for 10/22 @ 2pm. Steam Plant - QEP Contract on tonight's 
agenda.

Broadband Initiative No new updates.

Ogren Dump Solar Project No new updates.

Events and Marketing 51st Annual Craft Fair was held this past weekend. Events are in the works for Small Business Saturday, November 29.

Landbank No new updates.

Chapter 13 Rewrite No new updates.

Federal American Rescue Plan Act No new updates

Blight Cleanup No new updates.

Birdseye Cleanup Kick-off for the Brownfields RLF project was held October 7, 2025.

Caribou Development Committee Executive Session tonight on projects.

River Front - Master Plan The Riverfront Master Plan contract was awarded to Rasor Landscape Architecture. Kick-off is coming soon.

Façade Improvement Program On tonight's agenda.

Aldrich ATV/Snowmobile Storage No new updates.

Caribou Economic Growth Council No new updates.

Business Outreach Eric is working with several possible businesses.

90



Other Administrative Projects

Tax Acquired Property Policy No new updates.

Nylander Executive Session tonight on projects.

Fire Structural Work No new updates.

Fire Station Renovations Design Development phase is underway with Harriman.

Police Station The RFP for a firm to help evaluate existing buildings is now out.

River Road No new updates.

Investment Policy No new updates.

Cable Franchise Renewal There has been work on the state level on a model franchise agreement.

Airport Apron project complete. Committee meeting scheduled for 10/21.

Personnel Policy Staff is working on updates.

New LED Street lights No new updates.

Comp Plan Update Sections complete. Staff is reading and editing. Capital budget project underway for Comp Plan. 

LD 2003 Implementation No new updates.

15 Prospect Street A supplemental assessment was approved with the recent tax commitment for unpaid dangerous building expenses.

Water Street Fire Staff is applying for  funding from Maine DEP to assess the site.

Age-Friendly Efforts No new updates.

Personnel Changes Recent promotions in the police department, Chad Cochran to Detective Sergeant and Lucas Hafford to Sergeant.

DOT Village Partnership No new updates.

Aroostook Waste Solutions Please dispose of rechargeable batteries properly to avoid landfill fires.

Cary Medical Center No new updates.

Other Updates No new updates.

Administrative Approvals Liquor license application and special amusement license approved for the Par & Grill.

91



Hot Topics – And Where to Find More Information 

 
Fort Street Bridge - Eric Sanderson is reaching out to other communities in 
Maine who faced similar issues with bridge closures. 

The City of Caribou has a webpage with information: 

Aroostook River Bridge Rehabilitation – City of Caribou, Maine 

Find this on the home page under “City Planning Projects”. When staff have 
additional information, it will be added here. 

 

2025 Property Tax Bills- The City has a webpage with information: 

Tax Bill – City of Caribou, Maine 

Find this on the home page under “Tax Bills”. You can find contact information, 
budget documents, copies of tax bills and trends for the past five years for each 
area funded. 

The tax bill you receive represents the City of Caribou’s fiscal obligations to RSU#39 and he 
County of Aroostook as well as fund municipal departments. 

Current Billing Distribution, 2025 mil rate is 22.0 

Municipal Departments  40%    8.80 mil 

RSU#39    49%  10.78 mil 

County of Aroostook   11%    2.42 mil 

 

RSU#39 is hosting a Budget Brainstorming session, on Wednesday 10.29.2025. A flyer is 
included in this manager’s report. 

 

92

https://www.cariboumaine.org/aroostook-river-bridge-rehabilitation/
https://www.cariboumaine.org/taxbill/


Page 1 of 3 
 

Components of the Municipal Tax Bill 

The Municipal Tax Bill has a compound tax rate which includes the annual amount raised to fund municipal 
services as well as the City’s portion for the Aroostook County budget and the RSU#39 school budget. State 
statutes require that the city collect the amounts invoiced by the County of Aroostook and the RSU#39, and it 
also requires that the percentage of local property taxes distributed to education and to local and county 
government be included when a property tax bill is issued to a taxpayer. Interesting note: The State of Maine does 
not require that a tax bill be issued but the City of Caribou provides one as a convenience for taxpayers. 

In 2025, the municipal portion of the Property Tax bill was 40% of the amount paid. If your tax bill was $1,000 
then you paid $400 to fund your city departments. The city department budgets are set by the City Council. 

In 2025, the Aroostook County portion of the Property Tax bill was 11% of the amount paid. If your tax bill was 
$1,000 then you paid $110 to fund the services provided by the County of Aroostook. The County budgets are set 
by the Aroostook County Commissioners and Aroostook County Finance Committee. 

In 2025, the RSU#39 portion of the Property Tax bill was 49% of the amount paid. If your tax bill was $1,000 
then you paid $490 to fund the school department. The RSU#39 budget is recommended by the RSU#39 Board 
of Education and approved by voters. 

 

Determining the RSU#39 Portion of the Municipal Tax Bill 

The County of Aroostook and the RSU#39 are on a fiscal year that is different from the City of Caribou. No 
additional calculations are needed when determining the amount due for the County portion as their invoice 
reflects the 12-month portion due (and in 2024, 2025, and 2026 includes an additional amount associated with 
their transition to a new fiscal year). However, the RSU#39 invoices the municipality monthly based on the school 
year’s budget that was approved by voters. Therefore, the amount raised by the municipality for the RSU#39 
includes 6 months from the prior year budget and 6 months from the current year budget. For 2025, that was half 
of the 2024-2025 warrant of $5,501,382.07 and half of the 2025-2026 warrant of $5,412,308.57. This year, the 
RSU#39 school budget was passed on September 9, 2025. 

 

Calculating the Municipal Tax Bill 

Per state statute, valuation is set by the municipality based on the property status as of April 1 of the tax year. The 
tax bill covers the municipal’s fiscal year, January 1 to December 31. The City charter states that the City Council 
will set the tax rate on or before June 30 of each year. To determine the amount to be raised from property taxes, 
staff combines the amounts for the City municipal appropriations, the City’s portion of the County Tax Bill, and 
the amount for RSU#39. The formula to determine the annual tax rate is “Required Tax Rate = the sum of the 
appropriations to be funded through property tax divided by the municipal valuation”.  
 
Using the most recent 2025 tax year as an example: The total taxable valuation in Caribou was $503,472,699. 
The amount of property tax to be raised at commitment was: $11,076,399.38 (the sum of: Municipal = 
$4,433,096.38; County = $1,186,458; and RSU# 39 = $5,456,846). For 2025, $11,076,399.38 / $503,472,699 
produces a tax rate of .0220 or a “mil rate” of 22.0. Staff members are often asked “how much is a mil”? The 
definition of a mil as it relates to currency is .001 of a US dollar.  In valuation terms, a mil would be .001 of the 
taxable valuation or $503,472,699, so a “mil rate” of 22.0 means the City raised 22.0 “mils” ($503,472.699 X 
22.0 = $11,076,399.38). Regarding the 2025 compound tax rate of 22.0, the mil rate attributed to municipal 
spending is 8.80 mil, Aroostook County is 2.42 mil and RSU#39 is 10.78 mil. 

93



Page 2 of 3 
 

Reconciling the Maine DOE ED279 and the Municipal Tax Bill 

Staff members are often asked why the mill expectation and the valuation number from the Maine Department of 
Education ED279 report do not match with what the City of Caribou shows for a taxable valuation and the tax 
rate required to raise the funds needed.  
 
Let’s look at a section of page 4 of the 2025-2026 school year ED279.  
 

 
1 – School year 2 – Valuation used 3 – Mil Expectation 4 – Amount to be raised in warrant Article 12 
(This represents the June 30 to December 31, 2025 portion of RSU#39 contribution as an illustration).  
 
Note on #2: State Valuation is different than the taxable valuation. Maine Revenue Services (MRS) uses sales 
ratio studies and other procedures to develop an equalized value for all Maine municipalities with a goal of 
distributing state aid to education and revenue sharing equitably. MRS will use certified ratios and average ratios 
developed from the ratio studies to factor the municipal valuation. According to MRS rule 201, “’State Valuation’ 
for a given tax year means the total Equalized Value of all taxable property in a Municipality as of the April 1 two 
years prior, plus the portion of exempt value of homestead exemptions and Business Equipment Tax Exemption 
property reimbursed by the State to the Municipality pursuant to 36 M.R.S. § 691, et al., less the Captured 
Assessed Value of tax increment financing districts in the Municipality.” 
 
Note on #3: The Maine Department of Education has their own set of procedures for determining what the 
municipality will contribute to education.  The Maine DOE formula is “Required Local Contribution = the current 
Mill Rate multiplied by the municipal valuation”. The Maine DOE sets the current Mill Rate as a cap that the 
municipality will be required to contribute to education per the Essential Programs and Services (EPS) funding 
formula. The EPS funding formula is used to equitably distribute the limited state funding. For the 2026 fiscal 
year (shown), the local contribution cap was a 6.30 Mill Rate. In 2025, it was 6.62. 
 
Note on #4: Maine statute dictates how the education budgets are organized and presented. The amount shown in 
# 4 can be found in Article 12 of the RSU#39 budget. This is the amount (half from each year) used in the 
calculation ($2,707,911 + $2,698,945) = $5,406,856 / 2 = $2,703,428. Article 12 raises the funds needed to receive 
the “Essential Programs and Services Funding” provided for in Maine Statute. 

1 

2 3 4 

Caribou 
Stockholm 

94



Page 3 of 3 
 

In the RSU#39 budget, Articles 12 through 17 raise funds for the proposed school budget. The larger amounts 
come from Article 12 and Article 14. 

As discussed above, Article 12 raises the funds needed to receive the “Essential Programs and Services Funding” 
provided for in Maine Statute. Article 13 funds the annual payment on the debt service for money borrowed by 
the RSU (approved by voters). Article 14 raises and appropriates additional local funds which exceed the State of 
Maine “Essential Programs and Services Funding” calculation. Article 17 authorizes the adult education program 
and raises the local share. 

For Article 14, the RSU 24-25 budget book shows Article 14 as $2,519,561 and the RSU 25-26 budget book 
shows Article 14 as $2,441,936. This is the amount (half from each) is used in the calculation ($2,519,561 + 
$2,441,936) = $4,961,497 / 2 = $2,480,748.50.  

The voters of Caribou need to pass Article 12, as its passage appropriates the funding required to leverage the 
state money. With the passage of Article 14, the RSU#39 raises funds over and above what the state requires.  

After the voters pass the RSU#39 budget, the school sends the city a copy of the approved warrant and a 
spreadsheet to calculate what needs to be raised. This is the spreadsheet from 2025: 

 

 

If you have any questions, please contact the City of Caribou: 

 

Penny Thompson, City Manager 

pthompson@cariboumaine.org 

(207) 493 – 5961 (direct line) 

 
 

Caribou

School's Fiscal Year 2024-2025 City Appropriation 5,501,382$   
7/1/24- 6/30/25

School's Fiscal Year 2025-2026 City Appropriation 5,412,309$   
7/1/25- 6/30/26

Increase based on school year (89,073)$       

City's Fiscal Year 2025
1/1/25- 6/30/25 (5,501,382  /2) 2,750,691$   
7/1/25-12/31/25 (5,412,309  /2) 2,706,155$   
Total Appropriation 5,456,846$   

City's 2024 Calendar year appropriation 4,976,200$   
Increase appropriation based on calendar year 480,646$      

COMPUTATION TO DETERMINE 
CITY APPROPRIATION TO THE

GENERAL FUND and ADULT ED FUNDS COMBINED

95

mailto:pthompson@cariboumaine.org


 

96



97



$4.459 MILLION

SENATOR COLLINS:
$2.5 MILLION

The City Council is now looking into the refurbishment of an existing
building. Link to current RFP for professional services:
https://www.cariboumaine.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/Caribou-
Police-Station-RFP-10.02.2025.pdf

FY23 - POLICE STATION 

FY23 - CARIBOU POND & PARK RECLAMATION PROJECT
Project Manager contract has been awarded to Aviest Engineering of
Caribou.

FY24 - IMPROVEMENTS TO FIRE STATION $1.359 MILLION
Design and Engineering contract awarded to Harriman. Amanda
Jandreau of Caribou is the project lead. 

FY24 - ENERGY IMPROVEMENTS AT LIBRARY
This appropriation passed with the federal budget.

SENATOR KING:

CONGRESSIONALLY DIRECTED SPENDING REQUESTS

The Railroad station has been purchased. Hanson Historic
Consulting has visited the site and provided suggestions for
additional grants. The Riverfront Master Plan has been awarded to
Rasor Landscape Architecture of Yarmouth, Maine.

RIVERFRONT PLAN & PROJECTS

NORTHERN BORDER REGIONAL
COMMISSION (NBRC)

$472,550

ARPA NEU FUNDS:
2022 & 2023 - USED AS MATCH FOR COUNTY ARPA PROJECT
2024 - MUNICIPAL SEWER EXPANSION PROJECT

FY2022 - IMPROVEMENTS TO FIRE STATION & 
AMBULANCE EQUIPMENT

FY2023 - FIRE DEPARTMENT TURN-OUT GEAR, 
POLICE BODY WORN CAMERAS & RADIOS

FY2024 - APPLICATION APPROVED FOR TWO
PROJECTS: MATCH FOR POLICE/FIRE
EQUIPMENT & SEWER PROJECT

ARPA - AROOSTOOK COUNTY MATCHING FUNDS

COMPLETE

$150,000

$100,000

City Council has approved contract with DECD for
HOP grant. Contract for the Housing Needs study
has been awarded to Matrix Design Group. Public
meeting will be scheduled in November.
Housing needs Assessment. Public Meeting is
scheduled for November 18, 2025.

This is a fully funded project at the Caribou Public Library. Haley
Ward is working on design and engineering.

$1.8 MILLION

Did you know that a successful grant application starts with well-constructed planning documents? 
The City of Caribou is working on their 2024-2034 Comprehensive Plan which will be the foundation

for grant applications going forward.

APRON PROJECT

FAA/MAINE DOT
AVIATION DIVISION

$628,445
SNOW REMOVAL EQUIPMENT $545,000

GRANT PROJECT
UPDATES

JOIN THE CONVERSATION: CARIBOUMAINE.ORG/CARIBOU2034

CARE for our community, ENVISION the future, then
help Caribou DO what it takes to make it happen!

Care. Envision. Do.
CARIBOU 2034

Care. Envision. Do.
CARIBOU 2034

OCTOBER 2025OCTOBER 2025

The demolition of the Diesel Plant is out for
bid. Proposals due November 5, 2025. 

FY2023 CLEANUP GRANT

EPA BROWNFIELDS
$900,000

Bids for the QEP were received, to be approved at October 20
City Council meeting.

FY2025 CLEANUP GRANT $4 MILLION

RFP PACKET: https://www.cariboumaine.org/wp-
content/uploads/2025/10/Caribou-Diesel-Electric-Plant-Demo-RFB-
10032025.pdf

$48,000
Approved for grant/loan for cleanup of PCB soils
at Birdseye.
QEP contract awarded to County Environmental of
Caribou.

REVOLVING LOAN FUND

MAINE DEP

TBD
Working with DEP Brownfields program to identify other sites for
clean-up.

FY2025 ASSESSMENT GRANT

98



CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  
25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  
MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Penny Thompson, City Manager  
DATE:  October 20, 2025 

  RE:   Event Coverage for Spud Speedway  
 
 

 
In December 2024, the Caribou City Council approved “Resolution # 3, 2024 Series, A Resolution of the Caribou 
City Council Establishing City Policy for Providing Public Safety Support to Community Events.” At the May 
2025 meeting, the 2025 fee schedule was set at: $60/hour for EMS, $35/hour for fire, and $40/hour for police 
support. Now that the events have ended for the season, there can be a discussion about what worked and what 
could be improved moving forward.  
 
Items for discussion: 
 
• The Caribou Fire and Ambulance Department has provided dedicated EMS coverage for events, despite the 

need to also provide timely response to 911 calls with a department that remains short-staffed. 
 
• In an email dated 09/22/2025, Jim E. Gamage, Jr., one of the owners of Spud Speedway asked the City of 

Caribou to waive the EMS fee for the September 27 grass drag coverage which was scheduled from 11 am to 
9 pm. (10 hours @ $60 / hour reduced fee = $600). The adopted resolution states, “Upon the request and 
satisfactory justification by the event organizers/sponsors, the City Council may waive some or all of the 
required fee(s) on a case-by-case basis.” While best practice would be to have the discussion prior to the 
event, it is on tonight’s agenda as the request was received after the September meeting date, and five days 
prior to the event date. 

 
• The adopted resolution also mentions, “applicable insurance policies”. There was an incident at Spud 

Speedway that occurred on September 28, 2025, during the Demolition Derby, when a vehicle driven by a 
derby participant stuck a municipally owned ambulance, which an owner of Spud Speedway had directed to 
be placed in the center of the infield. There is a discussion to be had about required insurance coverage, and 
who pays under what circumstances. 

 
 
Suggested action: 
 
If the Caribou City Council wishes to waive the fees for EMS coverage at Spud Speedway for September 27, a 
motion could be made to: 
 
“make a motion for the City of Caribou to waive the fees for EMS coverage at Spud Speedway for September 
27, 2025 for a maximum of 10 hours at the $60 / hour reduced fee” 
 
Second   Discussion  Vote 

99



100



Caribou City Council – October 20, 2025 Memo Re: MaineDOT Planning Partnership Initiative (PPI)    Page 1 of 1 

CARIBOU ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
25 HIGH STREET 
CARIBOU, ME 04736 

         

MEMO 
TO: Caribou City Council Members 
FROM: Eric Sanderson, Economic & Community Development Specialist 
DATE: October 20, 2025 
RE: MaineDOT Planning Partnership Initiative Update 

Introduction 
The City of Caribou has partnered with MaineDOT through the Department’s Planning Partnership Initiative 
(PPI) program to study transportation related development constraints along Route 1. PPI is intended to 
address time-sensitive, locally initiated planning and feasibility studies. The approach is to study, evaluate, 
plan and scope transportation projects on or adjacent to the state and state aid high way system through 
studying the connection between transportation and land use to improve desired development conditions. In 
Caribou, since Route 1 is a controlled access highway – where the State controls access points for safety 
purposes, development is limited in the City limits along the Route 1 corridor. With this in mind, members of 
the City Council, Development Committee, and staff met with MaineDOT to discuss development 
constraints along Route 1 that would otherwise render multiple sites as viable for commercial use. This was 
the basis for the City of Caribou’s application and ultimate award to fund the PPI study.  

Steps to Date: 
Staff have met with MaineDOT to discuss and review a draft scope of work for the project. At present, it 
includes identifying parcels in Caribou ready for commercial and residential development, and recommended 
improvements to the transportation system to support local and regional economic opportunity along Route 1 
in the proximity of those parcels. The draft tasks include public meetings and project management, 
evaluation of existing conditions in the study area, followed by a parcel level analysis and transportation 
system recommendations. Each of these 4 tasks would then be combined into a fifth task of a Final Report. 
After finalizing the scope, an independent government cost estimate of $131,712 was presented to staff for 
consideration. The estimate is attached for the City Council's reference and consideration.  

The PPI program typically is a 50/50 match program, requiring municipalities to provide 50% funding. 
However, MaineDOT’s Community Based Initiatives policy states that communities with valuations between 
$350 million and $550 million are only responsible for a 40% match. With Caribou’s valuation under $550 
million, based on the current cost estimate, this would require a 40 % match by the City in the amount of 
$52,684.80. MaineDOT notes funding sources such as TIF district revenues can be used as a match. 

Suggested Action: 

After discussion, please make a motion “to allocate 2026 funds for the Planning Partnership Initiative 
pursuant to the 40% required match in the amount of ___________”. 

Second 

Discussion 

101

chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https:/uploads.mainedotpima.com/e5efbca8-398a-4664-801a-796d06c77953.pdf


Orig. Date:
Project Title/Location: Revised Date

MaineDOT PIN:
Consultant Firm Name (If Known): Prepared By
Service Area or Phase of Work:

Project 
Manager

Traffic 
Engineer

Highway 
Engineer Planner Environment Technicians TOTAL

# Task Descriptions Hours Hours Hours Hours Hours Hours Hours Hours Hours
1 Project Management 0.00

Coordination 24.00 - - 8.00 - - 32.00
Team Meetings (6 anticipated, no travel) 24.00 12.00 12.00 12.00 6.00 6.00  72.00
Council Meetings (2 anticipated, with travel) 36.00 8.00 8.00 36.00 8.00 8.00 104.00

2 Existing Conditions 16.00 12.00 12.00 8.00 4.00 24.00  76.00
3 Database Analysis 24.00 8.00 8.00 16.00 8.00 24.00 88.00
4 System Recommendations 40.00 40.00 40.00 24.00 8.00 8.00  160.00
5 Final Report 24.00 12.00 12.00 24.00 8.00 4.00  84.00

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

 0.00
TOTAL HOURS 188.00 92.00 92.00 128.00 42.00 74.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 616.00
HOURLY RATE $85.00 $70.00 $70.00 $70.00 $50.00 $40.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

DIRECT LABOR TOTAL $15,980.00 $6,440.00 $6,440.00 $8,960.00 $2,100.00 $2,960.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $42,880.00
Overhead % 175.00% $75,040.00

DIRECT EXPENSES $  Profit/Fee % 10.00% $11,792.00
Travel - Hotels $1,000.00 Subtotal = $129,712.00
Travel - Mileage $1,000.00

$2,000.00

TOTAL DIRECT EXPENSES = $2,000.00

Matt Drost
Planning Partnership Study

Consultant Positions

Total Direct Expenses =

TOTAL ESTIMATED COST = $131,712.00

Maine Department of Transportation 
INDEPENDENT GOVERNMENT ESTIMATE

July 25, 2025
Caribou - Route 1 Access Land Use

NA

102



 
 

 
CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Danielle Brissette  
RE:   November 4, 2025 Referendum & Municipal Elections 
DATE:  October 8, 2025 
 

 
 

The Clerk’s Office is preparing for the November 4, 2025 Referendum & Municipal Elections 
and is requesting Council approval for the following.  

  

1. Approval of an 8:00 a.m. opening Time for November 4, 2025 Elections 

 

2. Appointment of Danielle Brissette as Election Warden, Kristina Drinkall and Amber Madore 
as Deputy Wardens for the November 4, 2025 Elections. 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommended Motion: 

 

Move to set the start time as 8:00 a.m., to appoint Danielle Brissette as Election Warden, Kristina 
Drinkall and Amber Madore as Deputy Wardens for the November 4, 2025 Elections. 

 

Second, discuss and vote. 

103



CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  
25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  
MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Penny Thompson, City Manager  
DATE:  October 20, 2025 

  RE:   Community Development Block Grant Inquiry  
 
 

 
At the February 10, 2025, City Council meeting, there was a public hearing and several action items. The City of Caribou 
has everything in place to respond to requests for CDBG funding. Additionally, the City of Caribou Economic and 
Community Development Specialist, Eric Sanderson, took advanced CDBG training in Augusta this past summer. 
 
The City of Caribou is eligible to apply for business assistance funding once per year.  
 
At the February 2025 meeting, there was a resolution adopted to help a local business with 2024 CDBG funds.   
 
Another local business, BEE VR Theme Park, has reached out to see if the City of Caribou would be willing to start the 
process to assist with $30,000 in 2025 CDBG funds (see memo from NMDC). Jon Gulliver from NMDC is willing to assist in 
developing the initial application paperwork. 
 
 
Suggested action: 
 
If the Caribou City Council wishes to apply for CDBG funding to assist BEE VR Theme Park, a motion could be 
made to: 
 
“make a motion for the City of Caribou to apply for 2025 CDBG funding to assist BEE VR Theme Park” 
 
Second   Discussion  Vote 

104



Letter of Intent Maine Community Development Block Grant Economic Development 
Program 

Applicant: City of Caribou on behalf of BEE VR Theme Park, owned and operated by Travis 
Bernaiche 
Location: Caribou, Maine 
Funding Request: $30,000 
Program: CDBG Economic Development Program - Working Capital 

The City of Caribou requests $30,000 in Community Development Block Grant Economic 
Development Program funding on behalf of BEE VR Theme Park, a first-of-its-kind virtual 
reality entertainment venue in our community. This funding will provide working capital to 
support critical operating expenses including electricity, insurance, and advertising. This 
investment will result in three full-time equivalent jobs being created and retained for low 
to moderate income individuals in Caribou. 

The Maine Economic Development Program provides gap funding to help businesses 
create and retain jobs for low and moderate-income individuals, which directly aligns with 
the City's economic development goals and this project proposal. BEE VR Theme Park's 
commitment to three FTE jobs in Caribou directly addresses the program's national 
objective of employment generation for low-to-moderate income persons in rural 
communities. Working capital for operating expenses represents legitimate gap funding 
that will enable this business to stabilize during the critical launch phase while maintaining 
the employment commitments required by the program. 

Statistics indicate that startups face a 21% failure rate during their first year, making the 
initial operating period exceptionally precarious. New businesses rarely achieve full 
revenue potential immediately. A VR theme park must build awareness, establish a 
customer base, and overcome hesitancy toward trying new entertainment venues. During 
this period, fixed costs continue regardless of revenue levels. In Caribou, seasonal tourism 
patterns could create uneven revenue streams throughout the year, making consistent 
working capital crucial for maintaining operations and employment during slower periods. 

VR theme parks require significant electricity for equipment operation, substantial 
insurance coverage for liability protection with emerging technology, and marketing to 
educate the market about an unfamiliar entertainment concept. Positive working capital 
enables companies to pay bills, cover payroll, and seize opportunities. For BEE VR Theme 
Park specifically, the $30,000 ensures the three committed jobs can be maintained even 
during initial slower months, protects the low-to-moderate income individuals employed, 

105



and prevents service interruptions that could damage our reputation during the vulnerable 
launch phase. 

From a community development perspective, the City recognizes that supporting startups 
through their first year protects the public investment in job creation. The $30,000 
investment bridges the gap between initial business launch and sustainable operations, 
ensuring that an innovative rural business can survive long enough to become a permanent 
employment generator and community asset.  

 

106



  

 
 

 

City of Caribou, Maine   City Clerk’s Office 
                         25 High Street 
                                 Caribou, ME 04736
           Telephone (207) 493-3324 
                              Fax (207) 493-4207 
                   www.cariboumaine.org 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
In the Clerk’s Office we handle several different items, such as Elections, General Assistance, FOAA Requests, 
tax payments, vital records, and several other things.   
 
In September we received 4 FOAA Requests, processed 2 new General Assistance applications, and held 1 
Election. 
 

 

107



 

Chief Brian P. Lajoie 

 

Monthly Report for September 2025 

 
Ambulance Calls -    211   Fire Calls -  17 

BLS Calls -     112   Structures -  2 
ALS Calls -      99   Rescue -   1 
Canceled Calls -     1   Silent -   14 

Drug/Behavioral –    8 
Outside Communities -  46 
PIFT Transfers -     0 

LifeFlight -     12 
Long Distance Transfers -  0 
 

Total September Calls -228 
 

 
September 3, 2025: All members of the department attended an in-
service training put on by Stryker for the department’s new electric 

powered stair chair purchased from the Maine EMS Sustainability 
Grant. This unit will provide further safety in handling patients that 
need to be transported Up & Down a flight of stairs. This unit will also 

help prevent injuries to our providers. 
 
September 4, 2025: Chief Lajoie attended an informational ZOOM 

meeting with the Maine DOT on the Aroostook River Bridge Repair 
project that is deemed to start in 2027. 

 

108



 

September 10, 2025: Chief Lajoie attended multiple meetings and 
inspections. 

0900 – Inspection at the VFW in Caribou. 
1000 – Inspection at Richardsons Remedies in Caribou. 
1500 – Harriman Associates Bi-weekly ZOOM meeting. 

1800 – Aroostook County Fire Chiefs director meeting in Presque Isle. 
 

September 12, 2025: Chief Lajoie attended the collaboration for 
regionalization meeting put on by the City of Presque Isle at the 
Presque Isle Country Club. This was an all day event. 

 
September 15, 2025: Chief Lajoie attended a 3 hour ZOOM webinar 
with Maine EMS for the 2025 Protocol updates. This is a requirement 

of all providers for re-licensure. 
 
1800 - Chief Lajoie attended the City Council meeting at the council 

chambers. 
 

September 17, 2025: Chief Lajoie attended a Maine Fire Chiefs 
Association quarterly meeting in Brunswick Maine. 
 

September 24, 2025: Chief Lajoie attended the Maine Community 
Risk Reductions (MECRRC) meeting in Houlton Maine. This was an 
all day event. 

 
September 25, 2025: 1500 - Chief Lajoie attended the Harriman Bi-
weekly ZOOM meeting on building renovations. 

 
1800 – Chief Lajoie attended the Aroostook County Fire Chiefs 

quarterly meeting in Van Buren. 
 
 

109



 

September 26, 2025: 1800 - Chief Lajoie attended a meeting with 
Maine Fire Service Institute (MFSI) on training facilities and repairs 

in Aroostook County. Meeting was hosted by Presque Isle Fire 
Department. 
 

September 27, 2025:  Maine Fire Service Institute (MFSI) held its 
skills exam at Caribou Fire, using the department’s burn building and 

classroom space for the recent Firefighter I & II class completion. 
 
September 29 & 30: Chief Lajoie is away attending the Fire Officer III 

certification academy at Eastern Maine Community College. This is a 
weeklong certification academy hosted by Maine Fire Service Institute 
& Regional Alliance for Firefighter Training which will give each 

candidate a Pro-Board Fire Officer III certification upon successful 
completion. 
 

Crews performed the monthly checks for the building and all vehicles 
for the month of September. UTV 8 compartments, interior and 

exterior were cleaned. UTV 8 was waxed. 
 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
Brian P. Lajoie 

 
Fire Chief,  FO II 

110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119


